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Sub-Saharan Africa will require more than US$ 300 

billion in investment to achieve universal access to 

electricity by 2030*. AFC is an advocate and supporter 

of power privatisation and a key partner in the US$ 7 

billon United States of America's Presidential Power 

Africa Initiative, to accelerate investment in Africa's 

power sector. AFC not only provides access to finance, 

deal structuring and technical expertise, but also inter-

national financing capacity, project development, 

advisory, and  in-depth knowledge of the dynamic 

African Infrastructure space.

Africa Finance Corporation - African Investment, transforming 

access to Infrastructure in Africa... 

...Building the New Africa

*Source: The International Energy Agency, 2013
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2013 HIGHLIGHTS



A US$365 million
toll bridge to ease 

congestion and aid 
economic development

The Henri Konan Bedie Bridge is an Africa Finance The new bridge will eliminate the need to use the heavily 

Corporation (AFC) financed flagship US$365m public congested 9km route via existing bridges. The bridge will 

private partnership (PPP) project in Abidjan, Côte include a toll station on the north side of the lagoon and 

d’Ivoire. The project involves the design, construction, footbridges for pedestrians. Bouygues Group is the main 

financing, commissioning and operation of a 6.4km project sponsor and has a 30 year concession with the 

highway and 1.9km bridge with three lanes in each Ivorian Government to design, construct, develop and 

direction across the Ebrié lagoon, connecting Abidjan's operate the new bridge. AFC provided long tenor 

residential Riviera district directly with the commercial financing facilities and was the mandated lead arranger 

district of Marcory. for the mezzanine tranche of financing for the project.

HENRI KONAN BEDIE BRIDGE, COTE D’VOIRE

Henri Konan Bedie Bridge Construction, Cote d'Ivoire



The MainOne Cable System is an 

undersea fibre optic  cable system that 

links countries on the west coast of 

Africa to Europe and other parts of the 

world. The cable  system consists of 

approximately 7000km of fiber optic 

cable between Portugal and Nigeria with 

branching units to the Canary Islands, 

Morocco, Senegal, Côte d’Ivoire and 

Ghana. The cable system, operational 

from 2010, was completed on time and 

budget.

The MainOne Cable currently delivers 

on an open access model, 1.92Tbps of 

bandwidth (equivalent to ten (10) times 

the available capacity on the SAT-3 

cable and approximately two hundred 

(20) times the available satellite capacity 

across sub-Saharan Africa. A second 

phase of the project that will extend 

connectivity to Central and Southern 

Africa is anticipated.

MAIN ONE, NIGERIA

A 12,400km
submarine fibre
optic cable system 
linking North, West
and Southern 
Africa to Europe





AFC AT A GLANCE

Our Vision and Mission

Our Business

development capacity, and funding to bridge the 

infrastructure investment and access deficits, in the 
Our vision is to be the leading African institution in core infrastructure sectors of power, natural 
infrastructure financing on the continent. resources, heavy industry, transport and telecom-

munications, all critical pillars for economic growth 
Our mission is to foster economic growth and across Africa.
industrial development of African countries, while 

delivering a competitive return on investment to our Through its unique hybrid structure of a multilateral 
shareholders. institution with substantial private sector participa-

tion, AFC acts as both a leading financier and 

adviser to its clients. It offers project and structured 

debt finance, trade finance, greenfield and expan-
AFC was established to help fill a critical void in sion equity, as well as acquisition capital and fixed 
providing project structuring expertise and risk income products. It complements these products 
capital to address Africa's infrastructure develop- offerings with advisory capabilities in areas such as: 
ment needs. AFC not only provides access to project development, capital raisings and 
finance, deal structuring and sector technical restructurings.
expertise, but also advisory services, project 

AFC is a private sector-led Pan African multilateral development 
finance institution, with a capital base of US$1.2 billion, established to 
be a catalyst for private sector infrastructure investment across Africa.

Current Members

Prospective Members

Nigeria (Host Country)

Ghana

Guinea Bissau

Sierra Leone

The Gambia

Liberia

Guinea Conakry

Chad

Cape Verde

Cameroon

East African Community States*

Zambia

Mozambique

BOAD (Development Bank of West African 

States**)

*Includes Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania, 
Burundi, and Rwanda
**Includes Togo, Senegal, Mali, Cote d’Ivoire, 
Burkina Faso, Benin, Niger. BOAD also includes 
Guinea Bissau which is already a member of AFC 

Current Members

Prospective Members

COMOROS

 SEYCHELLES

 MAURITIUS

 RENUNION

  SÃO TOMÉ &
 PRÍNCIPE

Our Geographical Regions 
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PERFORMANCE
HIGHLIGHTS

09 

Note* Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

Interest income 6 74,295 65,760

Interest expense 6 (12,696) (2,675)

Net interest income 61,599 63,085

Dividend income 7 - 366

Fees and commission income 8 20,592 13,014

Operating income 82,191 76,465

Net gains on financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss 9 29,082 27,989

Operating expenses 10 (31,220) (28,335)

Profit for the year 80,053 76,119

Other Comprehensive Income:

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 18 7,250 7,113

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 87,303 83,232

Earnings per share for profit attributable to 

equity holders during the period (expressed in

United States cents per share)

-basic 12 7.35 6.99

-diluted 12 7.35 6.99

*The accompanying notes 55-105 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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Note* Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with commercial banks 13 53,223 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 14 656,135 633,467

Derivative financial instruments 15 1,010 296

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16 139,494 90,685

Loans and advances to other customers 17 518,711 465,210

Investment securities 18 516,134 300,485

Other assets 19 36,453 10,728

Property and equipment 20 2,133 2,155

Intangible assets 21 1,282  1,020

Total assets 1,924,575 1,697,212

LIABILITIES:

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 22 10,603 193,980

Derivative financial instruments 15 5 858

Borrowings 23 631,960 266,285

Total liabilities 642,568 461,123

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the Corporation's equity holders

Share capital 26 1,089,067 1,089,067

Retained earnings 27 178,577 139,909

Fair value reserves 28 14,363 7,113

Total equity 1,282,007 1,236,089

Total liabilities and equity 1,924,575 1,697,212

*The accompanying notes 55-105 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

PERFORMANCE
HIGHLIGHTS
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Share Retained Other
Capital Earnings Reserves Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 1 January 2012 1,089,117 78,790 7,113 1,167,907

Shares repurchased during the year (50) - - (50) 

Dividends paid during the year - (15,000) - (15,000)

Total comprehensive income - 76,119 7,113 83,232

As at 31 December 2012 1,089,067 139,909 7,113 1,236,089

Dividends paid during the year - (41,385) - (41,385)

Total comprehensive income - 80,053 7,250 87,303

As at 31 December 2013 1,089,067 178,577 14,363 1,282,007

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

PERFORMANCE
HIGHLIGHTS
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Note* Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 70,667 68,828

Interest expense (9,518) (2,087)

Fee and commission receipts 17,146 13,796

Dividend income 7 - 366

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (29,019) (22,119)

Other assets (25,725) (5,248)

Loans and advances to customers (26,129) (127,186)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (18,426) (50,460)

Other liabilities (182,322) 180,826

Net cash from operating activities (203,326) 56,716

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities 18 (277,575) (83,989)

Capital repayments of available-for-sale investment securities 18 69,176 86,373

Disposal of property and equipment 73 98

Purchase of property and equipment 20 (891) (1,531)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 21 (798) (752)

Net cash from investment activities (210,015) 199

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings 362,497 185,570

Dividend payments (41,385) (14,970)

Re- purchase of stock - (52)

Net cash from financing activities 321,112 170,548

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (92,229) 227,463

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 798,571 571,108

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 30 706,342 798,571

*The accompanying notes 55-105 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PERFORMANCE
HIGHLIGHTS
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his has been another successful year for the Africa 

Finance Corporation (“AFC” or the “Corporation”) Tas we achieved our fifth consecutive year of profits 

and delivered on our revenue and development targets. 

The trends in the global and domestic financial markets 

together with new opportunities for infrastructure financing 

on the African continent, continued to be the driving force 

behind our success of delivering sustained growth in 

shareholder value.

Against the industry challenges of long gestation periods 

to financial close, rising borrowing costs and in light of the 

sustained leveraging of the balance sheet, AFC continued 

to deliver stable earnings as the core business performed 

well. The Corporation saw a 13% growth in balance sheet 

size from US$1.7 billion to US$1.9 billion in 2013. The 

Corporation's underlying comprehensive income grew by 

5% from US$82.3 million to US$87.3 million. This was 

driven by a significant increase in fees and commission 

income, combined with improved efficiency translating 

into lower operating expenses. Earnings per share also 

increased by 5% to US$ 7.35 cents. This is a creditable 

performance in the context of our transition in balance 

sheet composition. It also highlights the resilience of our 

core business as a strong foundation for continued 

profitability. 

Our financial stability has been recognised with our first 

international credit rating from Moody's Investors Services, 

making AFC one of the highest investment grade rated 

multilateral finance institutions on the African continent, 

and, a clear demonstration that Africa's infrastructure is a 

sustainable, and profitable asset class globally. With 5 

years of consistent growth and performance, it is clear that 

a private sector led institution can contribute significantly 

to addressing Africa's infrastructure deficit, while simulta-

neously delivering shareholder returns.

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

With 5 years of consistent 

growth and performance, 

it is clear that a private 

sector led institution can 

contribute significantly to 

addressing Africa's 

infrastructure deficit, while 

simultaneously delivering 

shareholder returns.
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During the course of the year, the Corporation 

focused on asset creation with a series of well 

structured transactions. In total, AFC financed 

US$385 million of new investments during the 

course of the 2013 financial year, with 30% of 

disbursements made external to the host country.  

Of particular interest was the inclusion of AFC as a 

key partner from Africa, to participate in the US$ 7 

billion US Presidential Power Africa Initiative, to 

accelerate investment in Africa's power sector over 

the next five years. The key goal of the Power Africa 

Initiative is to increase access to clean, geo-

thermal, hydro, wind and solar energy.  It will help 

African countries develop newly-discovered 

resources responsibly, build power generation and 

transmission, and expand the reach of mini-grid 

and off-grid solutions, by providing the capacity 

and resources to generate an additional 10,000 

MW of power.

The President Obama Power Africa Initiative, Economic growth in both India (5%) and China 

coordinated by USAID, is a multi-stakeholder (7.3%) continued to decelerate in 2013, while the 

partnership between the United States Eurozone countries remain in recession (-0.4%) 

Government, The U.S. Agency for International growth. The United States of America (US) has also 

Development (USAID); The Overseas Private experienced a marked deceleration in growth to 

Investment Corporation (OPIC); The U.S. Export-(1.8%) fuelled by strong political uncertainty and a 

Import Bank (Ex-Im); The Millennium Challenge rising fiscal deficit. Against this background, Sub-

Corporation (MCC); U.S. Trade and Development Saharan Africa has maintained a steady growth 

Agency (USTDA); U.S. - Africa Clean Energy rate of 5%, driven by on-going record low interest 

Finance Initiative (US-ACEF); The U.S. African rates in developed markets, strong commodity 

Development Foundation (USADF), and the prices, and stable equity markets.

Governments of Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Liberia 

Nigeria, Tanzania, and, the 'invited' private sector.This strong performance is set to improve in 2014, 

with International Monetary Fund (IMF) projections 

AFC will invest over US$ 250 million in the power of 6% average growth across Africa. This growth 

sectors of Ghana, Kenya and Nigeria, whilst and related opportunities is reassuring and we 

catalyzing a further US$1billion in additional expect to see an increase in deal flow in our core 

investments in Sub-Saharan Africa energy projects.  sectors: power, natural resources, heavy industry, 

Investment in the Nigerian power sector was transportation and telecommunications. We 

initiated under the Nigerian power sector remain uniquely positioned to play an important 

privatisation in which AFC provided acquisition role in financing infrastructure investment in these 

finance and equity investments in excess of sectors, facilitating development impact and 

US$150 million for a number of assets, notably: tangible benefits across continental Africa.

Investments 

Global Macroecomic Environment

13%13%
GROWTH IN BALANCE SHEET SIZE

5%5%
GROWTH IN UNDERLYING 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

5%5%
INCREASE IN EARNINGS PER SHARE
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Kainji Power Generation Company by Mainstream Investment Authority (NSIA) and Banque Ouest 

Energy, Transcorp for the acquisition of Ughelli Africaine de Developement (BOAD), to co-develop 

Power and Vigeo for the Benin Electricity distribu- and finance infrastructure projects in Nigeria and 

tion Company acquisition. Francophone West Africa respectively. AFC is 

additionally a key private sector participant in the 

US President Obama's Power Africa initiative, 

covering power investments across six Power Africa The Corporation made significant progress with its 

countries: Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Liberia origination and project development efforts during 

Nigeria, and Tanzania.the year.  In January 2013, AFC signed a US$15 

million project development facility agreement with 

Progress was also made with respect to member-FMO for the purpose of co-financing and develop-

ship of the AFC. Cape Verde became the ninth ing early stage projects. During the course of the 

member country of AFC. Formal signing took place year, we continued to engage with sponsors under 

early in 2014. The Liberian Senate ratified Liberia's the AFC-FMO project development facility in order 

membership of the Corporation.  to enhance their projects and bring them to finan-

cial close. At the end of the 2013 financial year, 

AFC had a total origination pipeline of US$3.6 

billion with near term targets of approximately The corporation made substantial progress against 

US$750 million. We saw a substantial deal flow our financing objectives in 2013. During the 

from Nigeria, southern and eastern Africa in our course of the year, AFC successful executed a 

focus sectors. US$125 million borrowing program from a club of 

European Development Finance institutions (DFIs) 

in two separate transactions: DEG and FMO, and 

AFC continues to serve as Technical Adviser to the with Proparco and European Financing Partners. 

Central Bank of Nigeria’s (CBN’s) US$2 billion We debuted on the international syndicated loan 

Power and Aviation Intervention Fund, which has market with an over-subscribed 2-year US$250 

now disbursed over US$723 million to 27 compa- million term loan facility and renewed our bilateral 

nies generating over 860 megawatts of off-grid borrowings from Rand Merchant Bank and 

electricity, and an additional US$730 million to 10 Standard Bank. The successes (multilateral borrow-

aviation companies. In addition, AFC acted as the ing and oversubscribed syndicated facility) 

Lead advisor, in partnership with IDFC India, on the recorded with our borrowing program attest to a 

development of a National Infrastructure Financing growing level of market acceptance and recogni-

Policy; advised the CBN and the Federal Ministry of tion of the AFC.

Aviation towards improving the financial 

sustainability of local airlines. AFC also advised a 

number of private organisations including an 

international oil company, with respect to various By virtue of our borrowing program and as part of 

projects mostly within the power sector. AFC's internal policy, the Corporation has commit-

ted to a more stringent Environmental and Social 

Policy which is now fully implemented. DEG, one of 

The Corporation embarked on a number of our European DFI lenders, supported the process 

initiatives aimed at establishing market presence by providing consultants under a one year 

and recognition while also creating deal flow for Technical Assistance Agreement, in order to assist 

the Corporation. AFC signed Memoranda of in developing a new Environmental and Social Risk 

Understating with the Nigerian Sovereign Wealth Management Policy and implementation program. 

Origination and Project Development

Financing

Advisory

Commitment to Sustainable 

Development

Strategic Partnerships and Membership
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Board Changes

Internal Capacity

Looking to the Future

The Development Dividend

infrastructure can deliver a commercial return, 

through progressively enhanced financial perfor-We further strengthened the Board in 2013 with the 

mance and profitability since inception, we believe appointment of Ebenezer Onyeagwu on 3 

we have provided a foundation to significantly October, 2013 representing Zenith Bank plc, 

enhance infrastructure investment levels in the following the resignation of Mr Udom Emmanuel.

future.

AFC's focus sectors continue to provide a platform I would like to commend the management and 

for making a development impact. For example, staff of AFC for the sustained progress the 

supporting investments in the Nigerian power Corporation is making by the effective and efficient 

sector has created positive social impact by management of the business since inception. Our 

increasing generation capacity available for competitive advantage continues to be our exper-

households and businesses through operational tise in innovative structuring and arranging, 

efficiency, development of capacity, and promoting financial and technical advisory and project 

high standards of governance, health, safety and development. Allied to this, the commitment, 

environmental policies. The Ughelli Power resilience and professionalism of our employees 

Generation Company acquired by Transcorp has which has been crucial to the successful delivery of 

doubled its power output since the acquisition of our business objectives.

the plant and has created over 200 jobs within and 

outside the local community.Despite an increase in the attrition rate due to 

performance and staff discipline-related depar-

tures, our workforce size increased to 73, with 

As we report on our progress in 2013, it is already sustained diversity and continental representation. 

clear we are building on that success with a series During the year, we recorded remarkable success 

of major milestones already achieved:in finding and attracting top talent in a fiercely 

competitive talent market. Talent and Competence 

Reviews were undertaken to provide management Ÿ First international credit rating: Moody's 
with deep insights into the spread and depth of its Investors Service has assigned the 
talent pool and channel its people development Corporation an A3 (long term) /P2 (short 
efforts, aimed at continuously strengthening the term) foreign currency debt rating, making 
corporation's talent pipeline and reinforcing its AFC one of the highest investment grade 
leadership bench-strength. It is expected that these rated multilateral finance institutions on the 
measures and the recent broadening of our staffing African continent. This represents a major 
by employing young talent, will help maximise endorsement of the Corporation's financial 
business performance, strengthen the drive to stability, strategy and governance.
make AFC an employer of choice on the continent, 

and ensure that our people remain an enduring 
Ÿ AFC Live Summit: In March, 2014 we 

source of competitive advantage. 
hosted our inaugural infrastructure invest-

ment summit, planning for which was com-

pleted in 2013.  The event titled AFC Live: 
As an African-owned and led institution, estab-

Bridging the Infrastructure Investment divide, 
lished to operate with a private sector focus and 

was held in Lagos, Nigeria and welcomed 
majority ownership, one of our key roles over the 

over 500 International decision makers from 
last five years has been to demonstrate the com-

across the Infrastructure and economic 
mercial viability of Africa's infrastructure as an asset 

development markets.
class. By demonstrating that investing in Africa's 
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will decrease. 2014 will be a critical test, not only of Ÿ The African Banker Icon of the year: The 
the levels of interest in Africa's infrastructure needs, African Banker publication awarded Andrew 
but also in the sustainability of the continent's Alli, President and Chief Executive Officer 
growth.AFC with The African Banker Icon of the year, 

2014. The 'Icon' category is awarded to an 
During the last year, the Corporation has continued individual or institution for their outstanding 
to make progress and I am confident that the contribution in the field of business, banking 
institutional structures created and capacity and finance. The African Banker awards 
developed, investment rating attained, healthy selection committee, noted excellence in 
balance sheet, a growing project pipeline and deal AFC's area of expertise - Infrastructure 
flow will further enhance our asset creation efforts financing, its role in helping to change the 
and ensure that AFC remains uniquely positioned perception of Africa, its contribution to the 
to play an important role in financing infrastructure establishment of best global practice in the 
on the continent. An examination of the long term continent and establishing infrastructure 
fundamentals of the AFC business confirm that the investment as a true asset class in and of itself.
business is well positioned given the prudent 

management of both our capital and cost base.  This is a significant milestone achievement for 
This efficiency has not only generated significant AFC under the leadership of Andrew Alli and 
operating returns for our shareholders, but also his management team which sets a powerful 
transformative dividends across continental Africa.benchmark for excellence and transforma-

tional impact in the field of infrastructure 
I would like to thank everyone at AFC whose investment in Africa
creativity and hard work has played an instrumen-

tal role in achieving another record year, as well as The US Federal Reserve is reducing its programme 
our shareholders for their tremendous support. of quantitative easing. Interest rate rises are likely as 
With the Corporation's clear strategy for growth, asset purchases are reduced. Such a move would 
focus on exceptional performance and its talented inevitably begin to attract capital back to the US 
management team, AFC's business model contin-and other developed markets as competition for 
ues to be a compelling one which positions the capital increases. While appetite for African risk 
Corporation to lead in the economic transforma-amongst the global investment community has 
tion across continental Africa.been increasing over recent years, drawn to the 

higher returns that higher risk markets inevitably 

provide, the cost of African credit remains relatively 

high. As European and US markets recover and 
Adebayo Ogunlesireturns at home become easier to achieve, the 
Chairmancapital inflows Africa has received in recent years 
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Portfolio Review

Membership

Dividends

Long Term Loans

Results and Dividends

Board of Directors

details of the results for the year are set out in the 

financial statements. The Board approved the A review of the business of the Corporation is given 

financial statements of the Corporation for the year in the portfolio review and financial statement 

ended 31December, 2013 at a meeting of the sections of this report.

Board held on 24 March, 2014.

The Liberian Senate ratified Liberia's membership 

Significantly in 2013, given our increased perfor-of the Corporation in 2013. Presidential consent 

mance, and in line with our dividend policy, the will follow thereafter in 2014.

Board of Directors recommended a cash dividend 

of US$ 4 cents per share – US$ 44 million in The Republic of Cape Verde (Capo Verde) became 

aggregate, as payment to all shareholders subject the ninth member country of the Corporation.  

to approval at the 2014 Annual General Meeting.Negotiations about membership of Cape Verde 

were concluded in 2013. Negotiations with other 

The share capital of the Corporation as at 31 prospective member states and international 

December, 2013 was US$1,089,067,000, with organisations continued in 2013, notably with 

no change from the previous period. Kenya, Rwanda, Cameroon, Mozambique, 

Angola, Côte d'Ivoire, Senegal, Mali, East African 

Development Bank (EADB) and Development 

Bank of West African States (BOAD). During the year, as part of pre-approved financing 

plans AFC received a number of non-convertible 

long term loans to support the Corporation's 

expansion of its financing facilities. These included The Corporation's financial statements have been 

a US$125 million facility from a club of European prepared in accordance with International 

Development Finance institutions (DFIs) in two Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 

separate transactions: DEG and FMO, and with the International Accounting Standards Board 

Proparco and European Financing Partners. The (IASB).  The financial statements have been 

corporation also debuted on the international prepared under the historical cost convention, 

syndicated loan market with an over-subscribed 2-except for derivative financial instruments, avail-

year US$250 million term loan facility. able-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and 

financial liabilities held at fair value through profit 

As at 31 December, 2013 borrowings stood at or loss, which have been measured at fair value. 

US$631,960,000, an increase of US$365,675,000 The financial statements are presented in United 

compared to borrowings of US$266,285,000 as at States dollars (US$).

31 December, 2012.

The Corporation's total comprehensive income for 

the 2013 financial year was US$87.3 million, a 

slight increase compared with 2012 (US$ 83.2 As at 31 December, 2013, the Board comprised 

million) largely due to key investments in the power 14 Directors -  3 executive and 11 non-executive 

sector despite lower yield realised in 2012. The directors who exercise transparent, independent 

DIRECTORS'
REPORT
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judgment and are responsible for the Corporation's Chad. Negotiations commenced for the inclusion 

business conduct. As General Counsel  and of the Republic of Cape Verde to membership of 

Corporate Secretary, I am pleased to report that the Corporation.

AFC was governed and managed with openness, 

In 2013 a code of conduct on business ethics honesty and transparency.

aimed at ensuring transparency and account-

ability, was implemented.A member of the Board of Directors representing 

Zenith Bank plc, Mr Udom Emmanuel resigned 
In accordance with international best practices on from the  Board of Directors and Mr. Ebenezer 
Corporate Governance, the AFC Charter provides Onyeagwu was nominated on 3 October, 2013 to 
for Board Committees covering: Audit and represent Zenith Bank. His nomination was 
Compliance; Nominations and Governance; Risk approved by the Board and will be presented for 
and Investments, and, Executive Compensation.ratification at the 2014 Annual General Meeting.

Board Audit & Compliance Committee (BACC)The Board of Directors meets at least quarterly and 
The BACC Committee is made up of seven as often as the business of the Corporation 
members. The Committee's role is to meet with the requires. A programme of meetings for the Board 
External Auditors, the Internal Auditor and of Directors and Board Committees is fixed at the 
Management in joint sessions to review the Audited beginning of each calendar year. 
Financial Statements, Corporate and Business 

Units financial performance, policies, and 

recommend the annual budget to the full board for The AFC is committed to ensuring good corporate 
approval. BACC also reviews, approves and governance, and is compliant with International 
monitors the implementation of the approved best practice. The Corporation believes that good 
annual audit as proposed by the Head of Internal corporate governance not only enhances 
Audit. shareholder value, but is also critical for 

engagement with counterparties. The Board of 
Board Risk & Investment Committee (BRIC)

Directors sets the tone of good governance at 
In 2013, the BRIC reviewed and approved AFC's 

Board level, and, Executive Management ensures 
investment decisions. The BRIC also reviewed and 

strict compliance with good governance 
approved several policies on Prudential 

Corporation wide. 
Guidelines; Asset & Liability management, 

Operational Risk management, and a Revised Adherence to corporate governance is articulated 
Anti-Money Laundering policy. In addition, the in the Corporation's constitutive instruments - The 
BRIC reviewed the various borrowings made by the Agreement for the establishment of the AFC (“AFC 
Corporation and monitored its financial Establishment Agreement”) and the AFC Charter. 
performance through periodic reports from the The AFC Establishment Agreement is an 
Chief Executive Officer.agreement concluded by and between sovereign 

states. The AFC Charter also defines the roles of 
Board Nomination & Corporate Governance 

the Board of Directors, Management, and 
Committee (BNGC)

Shareholders including the protection of minority 
The BNGC Committee in 2013 reviewed and 

interests. 
approved several corporate policies including: 

AFC Corporate Governance Structure and 
In 2013, eight African states were members of the 

Framework, a revised AFC Staff Manual, a revised 
Corporation:  Nigeria, Ghana, Guinea-Bissau, 

Procurement Manual, and Business Ethics Code of 
Sierra-Leone, the Gambia, Liberia, Guinea, and 

Corporate Governance and Compliance
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Figure 1.0: Board Composition

1 Mr. Udom Emmanuel was replaced by Mr. Ebenezer Onyeagwu in the course of the financial year.
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Name Representative
Shareholding Institution to the Board

Role Year Appointed 

Adebayo Ogunlesi Central Bank of Nigeria Chairman, Board 2009

Tony Elumelu United Bank for Africa Plc Chairman, BRIC 2007

Tunde Lemo Central Bank of Nigeria Interim Chairman, BACC 2007

Aigboje Aig-Imoukhuede Access Bank Plc Non - Executive 2008

Jibril Aku Ecobank Nigeria Non - Executive 2012

Aliyu Dikko Central Bank of Nigeria Non - Executive 2009

Emeka Emuwa Union Bank Plc Non - Executive 2012

Bisi Onasanya First Bank, Nigeria Plc Non - Executive 2010

Udom Emmanuel Zenith Bank Plc Non - Executive 2010

1Ebenezer Onyeagwu Zenith Bank Plc Non - Executive 2013

Lewis Tung WEMPCO Non - Executive 2008

Robert Tung Gloria Investments Non - Executive 2008

Andrew Alli AFC Executive 2008

Solomon Asamoah AFC Executive 2007

Adesegun Akin-Olugbade AFC Executive 2008

Conduct. It renewed the appointments of two 

Non–Executive Directors and three Executive PricewaterhouseCoopers, Lagos Nigeria, has 

Directors. indicated its willingness to continue in office. A 

resolution will be presented at the 2014 AGM to 

The Board has adopted standard evaluation tools authorise the Directors to determine their 

to help assess the performance of the Board and remuneration.

Management as a whole, and that of individual 

Directors. In 2013, top-level performance reviews 

of Executive Management were conducted by Subject to the provisions of the AFC Charter, an 

members of the Board of Directors. Annual General Meeting will be held in June 

2014.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements, which give 

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Corporation at the end of the financial period and 
Dr. Adesegun Akin-Olugbade, of the results for that period.  These responsibilities 
Executive Director and Corporate Secretaryinclude:- adequate internal control procedures are 

instituted to safeguard assets, prevent and detect 

fraud or other irregularities; maintenance of proper 

accounting records; applicable accounting 

standards are adhered to; relevant accounting 

policies are used and consistently applied;  the 

financial statements are prepared  on a going-

concern basis.

Independent External Auditors

Annual General Meeting

Responsibilities of Directors
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Mr. Adebayo Ogunlesi Mr. Andrew Alli

Chairman of the Board President & Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Solomon Asamoah Dr. Adesegun A. Akin-Olugbade, OON

Deputy Chief Executive Officer Executive Director & General Counsel

& Chief Investment Officer

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Aigboje Aig-Imoukhuede, CON                    M   r .   J  i b  r i l   A  k  u                                                                                                                                                                                                              

Group Managing Director, Group Managing Director,

Access Bank Plc Ecobank Plc

Representing Access Bank Plc Representing Ecobank Plc

Mr. Aliyu Dikko Mr. Tony Elumelu, CON

Chairman, Chairman,

Premium Pension Limited Heirs Holdings Limited 

Representing Central Bank of Nigeria Representing United Bank for Africa Plc

Mr. Ebenezer Onyeagwu Mr Emeka Emuwa

Executive Director, Group Managing Director,

Zenith Bank Plc Union Bank of Nigeria Plc 

Representing Zenith Bank Plc Representing Union Bank of Nigeria Plc

Mr. Tunde Lemo, OFR Mr. Olabisi Onasanya,

Deputy Governor, Operations Group Managing Director/CEO,

Central Bank of Nigeria First Bank of Nigeria Plc

Representing Central Bank of Nigeria Representing First Bank of Nigeria Plc

Mr. Lewis Tung Mr. Robert Tung

Group Managing Director, Director,

WEMPCO Group Gloria Investments Limited

Representing WEMPCO Group Representing Gloria Investments Limited

LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2013
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LEADERSHIP PROFILES

THE BOARD

Mr. Ogunlesi is the non-Executive Chairman of Africa Finance 

Corporation and Executive Chairman and Managing Partner of Global 

Infrastructure Partners (GIP), a US$ 15 billion private equity firm that invests 

worldwide in infrastructure assets in the energy, transport, and water and 

waste industry sectors. GIP's founding investors include Credit Suisse and 

General Electric. The fund acquired London City Airport, Gatwick Airport and 

Edinburgh Airport consolidating its foothold in the UK transport sector. He 

has advised companies and institutions around the world and invested in 

many of the most important sectors in the global economy.

Prior to founding GIP, Mr. Ogunlesi was Executive Vice Chairman and Chief 

Client Officer of Credit Suisse's Investment Banking Division with senior 

responsibility for Credit Suisse's corporate and sovereign investment banking 

clients. He also served as Global Head of Credit Suisse's Investment Banking 

Department which included its worldwide capital markets - debt and equity, 

mergers and acquisitions, corporate finance and advisory, industry, country 

and regional banking businesses.

Prior to becoming an investment banker, he was an attorney with the New 

York law firm of Cravath, Swaine & Moore, and previously served as a Law 

Clerk to the Honorable Thurgood Marshall, the first African-American 

Associate Justice of the United States Supreme Court. 

Mr. Adebayo Ogunlesi is an independent director of Goldman Sachs Group 

Inc. and a member of each of the firm's Audit, Risk, Compensation and 

Corporate  Governance and  Nominating committees.

Tunde Lemo is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria 

and a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Bankers with significant leadership 

and top management experience in both the public and private sectors 

spanning over 26 years. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 

Accountancy,1984 (first class division) from the University of Nigeria, 

Nsukka. 

Mr Lemo recently retired as Deputy Governor in charge of Operations, 

Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN), in which role he formulated the industry-wide 

shared services initiative towards achieving efficient banking services for the 

Nigerian banking industry and greater penetration of banking services. 

Prior to his appointment as Deputy Governor of the CBN, he led the 

transformation of Wema Bank Plc as Managing Director and Chief Executive 

Officer (2000-2003), resulting in the bank's superlative performance with a 

top ten most profitable commercial banks in Nigeria ranking in 2003.

Adebayo Ogunlesi
Non-Executive Chairman

Representing the Central

Bank of Nigeria

Tunde Lemo, FCA

Representing Central Bank

of Nigeria
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Tony Elumelu is the Chairman of Heirs Holdings Limited, an African 

proprietary investment firm focussing on creating economic and social value in 

Africa, via long-term investment in a number of sectors including financial 

services, natural resources, infrastructure, healthcare and real estate. 

He is a former Chief Executive Officer of United Bank for Africa (UBA), and was 

responsible for transforming it from a single country bank, to a Pan-African 

institution serving over 7 million customers in 20 African countries and 

operating in three continents.

He earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics from Bendel State 

University, Nigeria and a Master of Science in Economics from the University of 

Lagos, Nigeria. Tony is also an alumnus of Harvard Business School and IMD 

Advanced Management Programmes.

Aigboje Aig-Imoukhuede is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Bankers 

and the former Group Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of 

Access Bank Plc, one of the top four banks in Nigeria by assets. Aigboje's 

banking career spans over two decades. He spent over 10 years at Guaranty 

Trust Bank Plc (GTBank Plc) and resigned in 2001 to lead a team of 

accomplished bankers as the Managing Director of Access Bank Plc.

Aigboje's visionary leadership has inspired Access Bank's rapid and 

unprecedented growth over the past ten years which has seen the Bank rank 

amongst the top four banks. Aigboje has also served the Republic of Nigeria in 

different capacities, including his recent membership of the National Economic 

Management Team.

He holds a Bachelor of Laws and Barrister-at-law degrees from the University of 

Benin, Nigeria and the Nigeria Law School respectively. He is also an alumnus 

of the prestigious Harvard Business School, US having attended its Executive 

Management Programme. 

Emeka Emuwa is the Group Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

of Union Bank of Nigeria Plc, Mr. Emuwa joined Union Bank Nigeria Plc after 

25 years with Citigroup having served as Chief Executive Officer and 

Managing Director of Citibank Nigeria Limited from 2005–2012.

He began his banking career in 1986 as a Management Associate with 

Citibank Nigeria Limited. Mr. Emuwa served as Country Officer/Country Head 

in Cameroon, where he was responsible for the regional bank's Central African 

businesses in Gabon and Congo. 

He is a graduate of Finance from the University of Lagos, Nigeria and holds a 

Master of Science in Management from Purdue University's Krannert School of 

Management, Indiana, United States.

Tony Elumelu
Representing United Bank

for Africa Plc

Aigboje

Aig-Imoukhuede, FCIB

Representing Access Bank Plc

Emeka Emuwa
Representing Union Bank

of Nigeria Plc
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Stephen Olabisi Onasanya has over 23 years post qualification 

experience and until his appointment as Group Managing Director and Chief 

Executive Officer (GMD/CEO) of First Bank Nigeria Plc, he was Executive 

Director, Banking Operations and Services. Prior to joining the Board of First 

Bank, he was the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer of First Pension 

Custodian Nigeria Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of First Bank of Nigeria 

Plc.

Bisi started his banking career as Senior Accountant with Wema Bank in 1985. 

He joined First Bank in 1994 as a Senior Manager and held several positions 

including, Deputy General Manager and Group Head, Finance and 

Performance.

He holds an HND Upper Credit in Accountancy from Lagos State College of 

Science and Technology and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Nigeria and an Associate Member of the Nigeria Institute of 

Taxation. He is a Director of FBN Bank (UK) Limited and FBN Insurance Brokers 

Limited.

Jibril Aku is the Managing Director of Ecobank Nigeria Limited.  He has over 

3 decades of banking experience with 19 years spent in senior management. 

His banking career has included key positions in Capital Markets, Foreign 

Exchange and Treasury Management. Mr Aku has served two terms as director 

of Nigeria Inter-bank Settlement Systems (NIBSS) and various subsidiaries of 

Afribank Group including Afribank International Limited (Merchant Bankers) 

and ANP International Finance, Dublin, Ireland.

 

Prior to Joining Ecobank in 2006, he worked for Nigeria International Bank 

(Citibank) and later Afribank Nigeria Plc as Executive Director in charge of 

Operations & Information Technology. Jibril was Executive Director responsible 

for Ecobank's Treasury & Financial Institutions Group amongst others from April 

2006 to March 2010. He was elevated to the position of the Managing 

Director of the Bank in March 2010. He holds both Bachelors and Masters 

Degrees in Business Administration.

Lewis Tung is the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Wempco 

Group. Lewis studied Business Administration at the University of Hawaii, USA 

and has over 30 years work experience in Nigeria. The Wempco Group is one 

of the largest manufacturing groups operating in Nigeria. Products 

manufactured by the Group include roofing sheets, galvanised pipes, wire 

nails, plywood, ceramic tiles and sanitary ware. The Group is additionally 

actively involved in activities in the agriculture and hospitality  sectors.

Bisi Onasanya, FCA

Representing First Bank

Nigeria Plc

Lewis Tung
Representing Wempco Group

Jibril Aku
Representing Ecobank

Nigeria Limited

24 ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | THE ROAD TO ECONOMIC TRANSFORMATION



Aliyu Dikko was the pioneer Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer 

(MD/CEO) of Premium Pension Limited (PPL) assuming the position of  

Chairman of the Board of Directors in 2011. Prior to this appointment, Aliyu 

Dikko was the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of United Bank for Africa Plc 

(UBA). During the period of his leadership at UBA Aliyu Dikko was rated among 

the top 20 CEOs in Nigeria by the Vanguard Newspaper in 2004 and as one of 

the top 50 acclaimed business titans by News Magazine. Aliyu Dikko was at 

various times during his tenure at UBA, the Chairman of the Board of UBA 

Capital and Trust Ltd and UBA Securities Ltd. He was also the Executive Director 

Treasury and Consumer Banking, Commercial and Investment Banking and 

the Deputy Managing Director.

Aliyu Dikko started his banking career with Icon Limited (Merchant Bankers); a 

former affiliate of the USA based Morgan Guaranty Trust. He joined Icon as an 

officer in Credit and Marketing Department after a first degree in Accounting 

from Ahmadu Bello University (ABU) Zaria and a Masters degree in Finance 

from the University of Manchester, United Kingdom. Aliyu Dikko joined the 

newly established Urban Development Bank Plc from Icon Merchant Bank as 

the Controller Banking and Finance.

Ebenezer Onyeagwu is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 

of Nigeria (FCA) 2003 and an Alumnus of the University of Pennsylvania, USA 

(Wharton Executive Education), Columbia Business School, Columbia 

University, USA  and Harvard Business School. 

Mr. Onyeagwu has over twenty-two years banking industry experience. He 

worked as Credit Analyst  in the defunct Financial Merchant Bank Limited and 

later joined Citizens International Bank Limited where he held several 

management positions. He joined Zenith Bank PIc in 2002 as a Senior  

Manager in the Internal Control and Audit Group of the bank and has served in 

various capacities as Assistant General Manager, in charge of coordination of 

strategies for Business Development and Relationship Management. He is 

currently an Executive Director at Zenith Bank Group.

Robert Tung is a Director of WEMPCO and a Senior Executive of the Group. 

He has a degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong, and has worked 

with the Group for over 41 years. He is a Non-Executive Director of AFC.

Aliyu Dikko
Representing Central Bank

of Nigeria 

Ebenezer Onyeagwu
Representing Zenith Bank Plc

Robert Tung
Representing Gloria Investments Ltd
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LEADERSHIP PROFILES

THE MANAGEMENT

Andrew Alli is responsible for the overall strategy and operations of the 

Corporation. The Executive Management under Andrew's leadership has 

undertaken over US$ 1.2 billion in investments across Africa, financing high-

impact projects like a West African submarine cable, a commercial wind farm 

in Cape Verde, a toll road in South Africa, a greenfield power plant in Ghana 

and a flagship road infrastructure project in Côte d'Ivoire.

Until his appointment, Andrew was a Partner at Travant Capital, a West-Africa 

focused private equity fund. Prior to co-founding Travant, he served as 

Country Head for Southern Africa at the International Finance Corporation 

(IFC), the private sector financing arm of the World Bank. Andrew joined IFC 

in Washington as an investment officer working first in the Oil, Gas and 

Mining Department and then later in the Telecommunications Department. In 

2002, he was appointed IFC's Country Manager for Nigeria, responsible for 

managing the corporation's operations in the country. In 2006, he assumed 

responsibility for South Africa and seven other countries. During the course of 

his career, Andrew has been involved with investments in Africa totaling more 

than US$3.0 billion. He holds a Bsc in Electrical Engineering from Kings 

College, University of London, an MBA from INSEAD, France and qualified as 

a Chartered Accountant with Coopers & Lybrand (PriceWaterhouseCoopers).

Solomon Asamoah is a seasoned Investment Banker with over 25 years 

experience originating and executing transactions. He is the Deputy CEO and 

Chief Investment Officer of the AFC, responsible for driving and managing 

the Investment and Advisory activities of the Corporation, which includes 

Project Finance, Equity investments and Trade Finance. Immediately prior to 

joining AFC, he was the Vice President for Private Sector and International 

Investments at the Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA). Before that  

he  was  the  Special Assistant to the Executive Vice President and Managing  

Director of the International Finance Corporation (IFC), based in Washington 

DC. He later became a Principal Investment Officer at the IFC in 

Johannesburg, where he led the IFC's activities across Africa in the ICT sector. 

Prior to IFC, he was an Investment Banker with HSBC Markets in the City of 

London. He has a Masters Degree in Chemical Engineering from Imperial 

College, London, United Kingdom.

Andrew Alli

President and CEO

Solomon Asamoah

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

& Chief Investment Officer
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Dr. Adesegun Akin-Olugbade, the pioneer Executive Director 

(Corporate Services), General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of the 

Corporation, has oversight responsibility for Corporate Governance, Legal 

Services, Human Resources, Administration (Logistics and Procurement), 

Corporate Communications and Country membership functions. He has over 

25 years experience in the legal profession and financial services sector, 

having worked at both the professional and management levels, in the public 

and private sector, for leading commercial law firms, development banks and 

international financial institutions. He was previously General Counsel and 

Director at the African Development Bank and pioneer Chief Legal Officer and 

Head of the Legal Services Department of the African Export-Import Bank 

(Afrexim Bank). 

Dr. Akin-Olugbade holds a number of Non-Executive Director positions. A 

graduate of King's College, University of London, School of Law, he has a 

Masters degree and a Doctorate degree from Harvard Law School. He was 

called to the Nigerian Bar in 1984 where he came top of his graduating class. 

He is an alumnus of several Executive Management programmes and was 

conferred with the National Honour of Officer of the Order of the Niger 

(OON) by the Nigerian Government in 2012. 

Oliver Andrews is AFC's Director and Chief Coverage Officer. In this 

capacity, he leads the corporation's origination, technical, industry and project 

development teams. An entrepreneurial engineer and transport economist 

with extensive background in engineering, transport and project finance, 

Oliver has over 30 years experience in various infrastructure sectors and 20 

years as an infrastructure project developer, financier and strategic adviser.

Oliver is a former CEO of TCI Infrastructure Limited (TCII) and the Gambia 

Ports Authority. He has extensive international experience in infrastructure 

development and financing both from a public and private sector perspective, 

within and outside the African continent, and has successfully directed 

numerous infrastructure deals in Africa; leading project development teams, 

providing strategic, policy, program and commercial advice on infrastructure 

development issues to development financial institutions, international  blue 

chip corporations, and Governments both in Africa and Europe. Mr. Andrews 

holds a MBA from the University of Wales, is an Electrical and Electronic 

Engineer, Chartered Marketer, and a member of the Chartered Institute of 

Transport and Logistics.

Adesegun

Akin-Olugbade

Executive Director

& General Counsel

Oliver Andrews

Director & Chief Coverage

Officer
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Dr. Adesola Adeduntan is an investment banker with 20 years work 

experience and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria. 

He is the pioneer Chief Financial Officer and Business manager of the 

Corporation, with oversight responsibility for Financial Strategy, Treasury, 

Finance, ICT and Banking Operations. He is a member of the executive 

management committee. He is also the current Chairman of the Board of 

Directors - Cabeolica S.V, a wind energy producer in the Republic of Cape 

Verde responsible for over 20% of the country's power supply.

Prior to joining the Africa Finance Corporation, Dr Adeduntan was a Senior 

Vice-President & Chief Financial Officer of Citibank Nigeria Limited, Citigroup 

largest subsidiary in Sub-Saharan Africa. Adesola Adeduntan attended 

University of Ibadan, Nigeria's premier University where he obtained a Doctor 

of Veterinary Medicine (DVM) degree. He holds a Master's Degree in Business 

Administration (MBA) from Cranfield University Business School, United 

Kingdom which he attended as a “British Chevening Scholar.” In addition to his 

MBA, he has attended executive/leadership programs at Harvard, Cambridge, 

Oxford and INSEAD.

Roger Ellender is AFC's Chief Risk Officer. Mr. Ellender has thirty five years 

of experience in investment and commercial banking, working in emerging 

markets environments. He joined Bank of America in 1978 and subsequently 

worked in the Bank's London and Bahrain branches in corporate banking, 

financial institutions and risk management.

Mr. Ellender later worked for Banque Nationale de Paris, London, before 

being seconded under a technical services agreement to United Bank for 

Africa, Lagos, with responsibility for syndicated lending and structured 

products. Mr. Ellender then went on to work for Standard Chartered Bank and 

Credit Suisse in London, where he was responsible for structured trade 

finance, and for UBS, in Singapore, where he was responsible for Export Credit 

backed Vendor Financing. He was also Executive Director, Operations and 

Risk Management, FCMB, Lagos, Nigeria; General Manager of Travelex's 

businesses in Nigeria and, before joining AFC, he was Head, Risk & Quality 

Assurance at Afrinvest West Africa Limited, Lagos, Nigeria.

Adesola Kazeem 

Adeduntan FCA,

Director & Chief Financial

Officer

Roger Ellender

Senior Vice President

& Chief Risk Officer
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bankability. AFC, as with many Development Power
Finance Institutions (DFIs), offers technical advisory 

and project development expertise to support 
he International Energy Agency has 

Governments who may lack project development, 
estimated that bridging Sub-Saharan 

structuring and capital raising expertise.TAfrica's power sector deficit will cost 

approximately US$300 billion. There are many 
AFC has achieved encouraging successes in 

infrastructure financing challenges, not unique to 
infrastructure financing in the power sector, 

the power sector, encompassing: lack of enabling 
leveraging its deal structuring, financial advisory 

business environment; lack of transparency and 
and technical expertise, track record and 

consistency in sector policy, legal and regulatory 
innovation to raise appropriate financing for 

frameworks; absence of integrated planning 
bankable projects. AFC has directly invested over 

across the power value chain; paucity of affordable 
US$ 150 million in the Nigerian privatisation 

financing with long tenors, limited payment 
programme, and catalysed over US$ 360 million 

guarantees and credit enhancement instruments. 
in additional investments. AFC is the Technical 

To overcome these challenges, project developers 
Advisor to the Central Bank of Nigeria's US$ 2 

and financiers require Government support for 
billion Power and Aviation Intervention Fund and a 

infrastructure investment in the form of clear and 
private sector member of President Obama's Power 

transparent sector policy frameworks, clarification 
Africa Initiative, coordinated by USAID; a multi-

of public and private sector roles (and targets), 
stakeholder partnership between the United States 

availability of payment guarantee and credit 
Government, The U.S. Agency for International 

enhancement mechanisms that facilitate project 
Development (USAID); The Overseas Private 

Our portfolio is directly aligned to the sectors we believe are most 
critical to Africa's long term growth: power, natural resources, 
transportation, heavy industry and telecommunications.
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Investment Corporation (OPIC); The U.S. Export-

Import Bank (Ex-Im); The Millennium Challenge 

Corporation (MCC); U.S. Trade and Development 

Agency (USTDA); U.S. - Africa Clean Energy 

Finance Initiative (US-ACEF); The U.S. African 

Development Foundation (USADF), the 

Governments of Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Liberia 

Nigeria, Tanzania, and, the 'invited' private sector. 

The initiative aims to encourage private sector 

investment in the African power sector in target 

countries; to increase electricity generation and 
In 2013, AFC exploited opportunities from the distribution by 10,000 MW. In 2013 the 
power privatisation reforms of the Government of Corporation examined coal and peat power 
Nigeria, and participated in the following generation opportunities in Southern and Eastern 
transactions.Africa, and secured a Mandated Lead Arranger 

role in an 80 MW peat-fired IPP: It also expanded 

its technical advisory offering, on a selective basis, 

Kainji Power Plc is one of two hydro power plants to deepen its growing pipeline of power projects 

(out of six power generation assets under across Africa. 

privatisation) concessioned to the private sector. 

Kainji consists of two hydroelectric power plants – 

Kainji Hydroelectric Power plant (Kainji HEP) and 

Jebba Hydroelectric Power plant (Jebba HEP) 
Nigeria commenced restructuring and reform of its 

located in the Kainji and Jebba regions of Northern 
electricity sector in 2005 (passage of Electricity Act) 

Nigeria, within the confluence of the River Niger, 
to unbundle the sector; and establish a regulator 

and with a combined installed capacity of 
with a mandate to create and develop a 

1,338MW. Kani j i  current ly  generates  
competitive electricity market to address the 

approximately 25% of total electricity within the 
inefficient and stagnant supply of power in Nigeria. 

national grid. 
An efficient and functioning power sector was 

recognised as key to the growth of the Nigerian 
AFC in conjunction with Guaranty Trust Bank Plc 

economy. The restructuring and reform of the 
provided a US$ 170 million debt financing facility, 

electricity sector paved the way for private sector 
to the Mainstream Energy Solutions Limited 

acquisition of privatised assets in November, 2013. 
consortium (MESL), for the acquisition of Kainji 

Privatisation is expected to provide more efficient 
Power Plc, formerly owned by the Power Holding 

and cost effective Generation Companies 
Company of Nigeria (PHCN). AFC together with 

(Gencos) and Distribution Companies (Discos), 

particularly in the reduction of Aggregate Technical 

Commercial and Collection (ATCC) losses; and 

improvements in the Transmission Company of 

Nigeria (TCN), under a management contract. 

Restoring the formerly state-run plants to full 

capacity is expected to cost in excess of US$3 

billion over the next five years.

Kainji Power Plc

Power Sector Privatisation

AFC's investment in Kainji 

Power Plc will contribute 

towards reducing Nigeria's 

chronic power deficit, foster 

economic growth, and 

develop local capacity through 

employment generation. 
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Guaranty Trust Bank Plc, were the mandated co- Natural Resources
arrangers of the acquisition facility, with AFC 

providing US$ 68 million to the MESL consortium.

AFC's investment in Kainji Power Plc will contribute 

towards reducing Nigeria's chronic power deficit, AFC has rapidly expanded its oil and gas sector 

foster economic growth, and develop local franchise across West Africa and currently acts as 

capacity through employment generation. financier and adviser to a number of leading 

sponsors seeking to undertake important 

transactions in the oil and gas and associated 

Ughelli Power Plc, one of five thermal privatised infrastructure space. AFC additionally in 2013, 

power generation companies, is situated in Delta participated in the provision of core equity and as 

State Nigeria, and has an installed capacity of debt arranger in a number of divestment programs 

approximately 900 MW. Ughelli Power Plc is one of by International Oil Companies (IOCs) 

Nigeria's largest gas-fired electricity generation rebalancing their portfolios.

assets providing about 8% of the nation's electricity. 

AFC in conjunction with UBA Bank Plc, as co- Across Africa, the midstream sector (Oilfield 

arrangers, and FCMB and Fidelity Bank as co- Services) has emerged as an increasingly important 

financiers, provided US$ 215 million debt segment given its strong links to boosting upstream 

financing. The aggregate commitment from AFC Exploration and Production (E&P) and 

was US$ 55 million. Currently, the Ughelli Power infrastructure development. We envisage that the 

plant generates 360 MW of electricity, up from 160 growth in the midstream sector will continue, 

MW in November, 2013. As advocates of the specifically in Nigeria due to the change in local 

power sector AFC's investment in Ughelli Power Plc content laws. Nigeria's indigenous oil services 

will contribute towards combating Nigeria's power industry has been a key focus area for growth 

infrastructure deficiencies, and develop local following the passage of local content legislation in 

capacity. 2010, with the Government keen to domesticate a 

significant proportion of the sector's value. One of 

the key obstacles to enhanced local participation 

has been the ability of emerging indigenous firms Benin Electricity Distribution Company is one of the 

to finance their operations. 11 power distribution companies (“Discos”) that 

were privatized. Benin Disco serves a largely 

Swamp barge drilling rigs operate in unique, industrial customer base in Delta, Edo, Ondo and 

terrain-specific markets across five countries Ekiti States, Nigeria's industrial Mid-West, a region 

globally; Nigeria, Indonesia, Malaysia, Venezuela, dominated by oil and energy-related companies. 

and the US Gulf Coast. As a segment of the wider Vigeo Power Consortium, including AFC, acquired 

global oil and gas sector, the swamp barge market the Benin Electricity Distribution Company (BEDC). 

consists of 55 drilling rigs, of which 9 are located in US$129 million acquisition financing, for a 60% 

the inland waters of Nigeria.  stake in BEDC, was raised to acquire the asset. 

AFC provided technical support and structuring 

The high demand for a wide variety of specialized expertise for the acquisition and financing of the 

rigs and vessels for both swamp and offshore areas asset with a US$ 28 million equity investment. 

of operations, support the rationale for investment AFC's investment will contribute to the reduction of 

in the midstream sector. AFC is therefore ATCC losses and development of local capacity.

strategically positioned to actively participate and 

lead indigenous companies in this critical space. 

Oil and Gas

Ugheli Power Plc

Benin Electricity Distribution Company
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One such investment was concluded in 2013. AFC linkages that connect gas fields to their market, 

underwrote and in conjunction with JP Morgan was partly due to a lack of incentive for the private 

the co-mandated lead arranger for a US$100 sector, and Government investment. Similar trends 

million senior secured term loan facility for are evident across Africa. In the Liquefied natural 

Depthwize Nigeria Limited (Depthwize), for the gas (LNG) market, we continue to see increasing 

acquistion of new and upgrade of existing ABS gas potential on the continent. On the East African 

classed High Temperature High Pressure (HTHP) coast, IOCs have repeatedly discovered additional 

swamp rigs. Megadrill, the lead sponsor of the gas reserves in countries such as Tanzania and 

transaction is an Oil services company with key Mozambique. Angola marked a milestone with its 

expertise in swamp rig operations in Louisiana, first shipment in June 2013 to Brazil. The  East 

USA. Depthwize was established in 2011 as an African gas frontier has forecasts for annual gas 

indigenous shallow water and swamp barge production reaching 9.7 billion cubic metres (bcm) 

drilling contractor and operates the assets of in Tanzania and 19.5 bcm in Mozambique by 

Megadrill in Nigeria. Depthwize is expanding to 2022. We are actively monitoring and analyzing 

meet expected new demand from both areas of participation as LNG and gas 

International Oil Companies (IOCs) and emerging developments materialise.

indigenous Exploration & Production (E&P) 

companies. Acquiring rigs with the capacity to drill 

to a depth of 30,000 ft and with the ratings that In 2013 the Corporation embarked on developing 

enable the company to drill challenging HTHP a credible mining franchise based on the lessons 

wells, is anticipated to act as a key differentiator, learnt in both the Oil and Gas infrastructure 

providing Depthwize with access to new swamp sectors. The African continent is richly endowed 

drilling opportunities in the Niger Delta. The loan with mineral resources. The US Geological society 

facility, will be used to finance capital expenditure ranks Africa as the largest or second-largest 

related to the acquisition of new and upgrade of reserve of bauxite, cobalt, industrial diamonds, 

existing ABS classed HTHP swamp rigs. manganese, phosphate rock, platinum group 

metals and zirconium. The African continent 

Despite being rich in natural resources, Africa has contributed 6.5% of the world's mineral exports 

a core deficit in pipeline infrastructure which during 2011 from mining 20% of the world's land 

impedes the connection of gas fields to their area. From a regional perspective, members of the 

markets. This is especially true in Nigeria, where Southern African Development Community 

there is little pipeline infrastructure to provide (SADC) produce two-thirds of Africa's mineral 

Mining

Despite being rich in natural 
resources, Africa has a core 
deficit in pipeline infrastructure 
which impedes the connection 
of gas fields to their markets. 
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exports by value. The biggest operator in the region Transport
is South Africa. The East African Community (EAC) 

has several mineral belts that produce (amongst 

other commodities) tanzanite and gold, with AFC's transport sector strategy seeks to have a 

Tanzania being the biggest regional gold producer. balanced and diversified portfolio of greenfield 

Burundi has some gold reserves along with copper, and brownfield projects across all regions and 

cobalt, nickel and uranium deposits. Exploration transport modes (Maritime, Road, Aviation and 

activity in western Kenya has increased significantly Rail). Given the complex nature of transport 

over the past few years. Central and West Arica are projects, the diversity in AFC's approach will ensure 

increasingly being seen as boom areas for iron-ore revenue generation in the medium to long term.

exploration and mining.

The level of infrastructure financing required in the 

We recognize that investing directly in the upstream transport sector is hampered by its complexity, and 

mining assets in Africa has significant challenges; consequently, a lack of capacity in project 

critical to any mining project is the logistical management, financial structuring, transport policy 

support which is the ability to evacuate the output reforms, and limited operational and maintenance 

from the mines. The major  impediment for many capabilities. AFC believes a key to unlocking the 

mining projects in Africa is the lack of adequate development potential within the sector lies in 

logistical infrastructure to carry out this process.  In government commitment and policy consistency 

line with our mandate, we have therefore towards progressive public-private partnerships, 

strategically focused on bridging the infrastructure comprehensive enabling laws with clear 

gap by financing the construction or development guidelines, strategic planning and implementation 

of all required infrastructure (ports, roads, of integrated transport plans, in addition to 

pipelines, railways and plants), related to mining government support through regulatory 

projects with the objective of helping to unlock the frameworks and streamlined approval processes.

true value and potential of mining across the 

continent. In the last few years, AFC has been able to 

successfully navigate the terrain, making great 

strides across the road sub-sector. 

The Henri Konan Bedié Bridge in Côte d'Ivoire is a 

flagship PPP infrastructure project, which involved 

the design, financing, construction, and operation 

of a bridge across the Ebrié lagoon, connecting 

Abidjan's residential Riviera district to the 

commercial district of Marcory. Once completed 

by 2015, the new bridge is expected to reduce 

transportation costs by easing congestion over the 

existing two bridges within the city of Abidjan.

 

Furthermore, the Bakwena Toll Road in South 

Africa, which consists of a 95km section of the N1 

highway, running from Pretoria northwards, and, a 

290km section of the N4 highway running from 

Pretoria westwards, to the Botswana border, was 

Road
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designed as part of an intercontinental axis to 

stimulate agriculture, manufacturing, mining and The aviation industry has had a turbulent decade, 

tourism traffic, with combined urban and intercity with many airlines experiencing significant losses. 

tolling. This toll road has been fully operational Air travel continues to remain a challenging 

since December 2004, with proven traffic prospect, with national capitals connected to 

characteristics and blended annual average European cities, yet frequent and reliable flights are 

growth rate from 2004 to 2009 of more than 9%. rarely available between African cities. The real 

value of aviation is the global connectivity it 

Although roads account for approximately 90% of provides and the growth and development it 

commercial and passenger transportation across stimulates. The key enablers for growth in aviation 

Africa, almost 50% of Sub-Saharan Africa's road are supportive regulatory structures, and cost-

networks are in a poor condition with road efficient infrastructure.

transport costs in Africa almost twice as high as the 

world average. A few countries have started to The airline industry in Africa is expected to remain 

develop the enabling legal and regulatory the weakest performer, with the International Air 

frameworks required to attract private sector Transport Association (IATA) expecting the 

investment into the sector, with an increasing continent to post “barely positive” profits of 

number of toll road concessions. US$100 million in a global air transport market of 

US$746 billion in 2014, 1% of world GDP. 

Employment supported by aviation equates to 58-

The maritime sector has recorded substantial million jobs worldwide. With only 16 airport 

growth in the region of 10% over the past decade, concessions within the Sub- Saharan region, the 

in ports within the Sub-Saharan region. This growth industry needs to develop more airline service 

has not been matched by increased port concession agreements in locations with significant 

infrastructure, capacity or improved customs air traffic volumes; in addition to more efficient 

procedures, resulting in significant port congestion. maintenance programs and cost control along the 

Many African countries, have initiated port sector value chain.

reforms aimed at attracting private sector 

investment in infrastructure development. This The Corporation remains optimistic about its future 

influx of private sector investment, growing investments across all these transport subsectors, 

presence of global shipping lines and international buoyed by its robust investment pipeline.

terminal operators should create additional 

momentum. 

Aviation

Maritime
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Consequently, deficits in these sectors adversely Heavy Industry
affect the development of the heavy industry sector.

In recognition of the key challenges facing the The Heavy industry sector is diverse, and consists of 
continent in the development of a sustainable manufacturing, petroleum processing, natural gas 
industrial sector, the Corporation has been active utilization and conversion processes, cement 
in developing and financing support Infrastructure production, Iron and steel production, minerals 
– power plants and transport networks; sourcing, beneficiation and processing (for exampole 
attracting, and partnering project sponsors and copper, cobalt), chemicals and petrochemicals 
technology providers (local and international), production, fertilizers (organic - Ammonia, Urea 
partnering and attracting other financing partners and inorganic – phosphates and its derivatives). 
given the high cost of projects in this sector for Other industry sectors which are classified in the 
example; a typical 1metric tonnes per annum urea heavy industry sector include pulp and paper, sugar 
plant would cost upwards of US$1billion.refining. 

Projects undertaken by the Corporation include; Historically, Africa, excluding South Africa, and 
ARM Cement – the second largest cement some countries of the Maghreb region, has not 
manufacturer in East Africa; Bosveld Phosphates in had a strong industrial sector with sustainable local 
South Africa; PPC- a greenfield cement plant in the production and value addition to its wealth and 
Democratic Republic of Congo. The current myriad of natural resources. It has, over the past 
pipeline of projects include mini-steel plants, pulp few decades, exported its raw materials and 
and paper operations, refinery projects, and natural resources with little or no value addition 
cement plants.and in turn imported derived products from these 

natural resources to feed the local economy. The 
As the infrastructure stock on the continent net impact of this is low economic development, 
continues to improve, we expect a strong growth in skill development, low employment opportunities, 
local value addition to domestic natural resources and high prevalence of poverty. 
and consequently strengthening of the African 

industrial and production sectors. The heavy industry sector is highly dependent on 

other critical sectors, namely, power, and transport. 
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Our Approach

Our impact so far

Ÿ Environmental and Social sustainability: In order to address this, we believe that a number 

Environmental and social risk management of fundamental principles are essential if we are to 

must be at the heart of all our operations and create a sustainable base from which our continent 

projects. The Corporation is committed to can develop the infrastructure it requires over the 

ensuring that the costs of economic develop-long term. These are:

ment do not fall disproportionally on those 

least able to bear those costs, that the Ÿ African ownership and leadership: As the 

environment is not degraded in the process indigenes of the continent any sustainable 

and that natural resources are managed approach to infrastructure development must 

efficiently and in a sustainable manner.be African owned and led. 

Ÿ Maintenance: Long term sustainability Ÿ Commercially orientated investments: In 

requires as vigorous approach to the mainte-order to attract the level of capital required to 

nance of existing and construction of new bridge Africa's investment divide projects must 

infrastructure assets.  We are committed to deliver returns to investors. Africa's infrastruc-

ensuring each of our projects, beyond the ture must be seen as a viable long term asset 

scope of our financing, incorporates a world class capable of competing with global 

class approach to maintenance and repair.contemporaries in order to be sustainable.

Ÿ Strong and long-term partnerships: The 

scale of the investment deficit in African We believe that our impact since inception has 

infrastructure is beyond the ability of any one been multifaceted:

institution, or nation, to bridge. Long term 

sustainability can only be achieved through the 1. Proving the commercial viability of 

establishment and maintenance of strategic African infrastructure: As an African owned 

partnerships between local, national, regional and led institution, established to operate with 

and international stakeholders. Partnerships a private sector focus and majority ownership 

and innovation will be a core driver for change, one of our key roles over the last five years has 

between the public and private and within the been to prove the commercial viability of 

private sector itself. Africa's infrastructure as an asset class. By 

SUSTAINABILITY
AND IMPACT

When the Africa Finance Corporation was established in 2007 the 
continent faced a significant infrastructure deficit and little in the way of 
capacity to address it. The vast majority of funding for infrastructure 
projects on the continent was public sector or multilateral institution led 
and Africa's role in bridging the divide and building its own future was 
limited.
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demonstrating that investing in Africa's number of projects in development across the 

infrastructure can deliver a commercial return continent, while simultaneously ensuring a 

by delivering progressively enhanced number of projects in gestation for many 

financial performance and profitability since years, have been able to reach financial 

inception, we believe we have provided a close.

basis of evidence for others to follow and 

significantly enhance investment levels in the 3. Investment impact: Since inception we have 

future. reviewed and financed investments of US$1.9 

billion in over 22 countries across the 

2. Deepening Africa's pool of infrastructure continent from Cape Verde in the West to 

projects: By focusing on supporting project Kenya in the East, South Africa in the South to 

development and using our local knowledge Morocco in the North.

and sector expertise to identify and mitigate 

risks, we come in to transactions at an earlier Having established the commercially viability of 

stage than many investors. We believe our African infrastructure during our first phase of 

role is to accelerate the number of viable, evolution as an institution, our focus on 

bankable projects across the continent, sustainability and impact will broaden and deepen 

creating the market for other forms of capital considerably. In 2014, we will be assessing a 

to follow, and ultimately bridging the number of approaches to tracking and measuring 

investment divide that exists. Since inception our impact as an institution.

we have expanded and fast-tracked the 
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n this review, we reflect on our growth and has become evident that the future of economic 

achievements over the last 6 years, the prosperity in Africa will be largely determined by Ichallenges we encountered at inception, our the strategies crafted and the policy choices made 

articulated vision for addressing the critical by Africans themselves.

Infrastructure investment void across continental 

Africa's urbanisation is accelerating but its pace is Africa, and the progress we have made thus far. 

not matched by the speed of infrastructure 

Our challenge development, leaving inadequate infrastructure to 

We have consistently seen high levels of growth service a constantly increasing population. A 

across Africa in the last decade, with a sustained fundamental lack of infrastructure in crucial sectors 

average of over 5%. Continental summaries and like Power and Transport means that Africa's ability 

projections however mask significant variations per to compete in the global business market is 

country, and this growth has not always been severely affected. This challenge is exacerbated by 

uniform nor has it filtered down to all parts of a number of key obstacles that must be overcome. 

society. The fact is that too much of Africa's growth The need for strong leadership, robust and 

has been overly reliant on its natural wealth and transparent regulation and policies, enhanced 

individual nations ability to exploit and manage it. skills and a lower cost of finance must be 

A fundamental obstacle to long term sustainable addressed urgently. 

growth remains, bridging the infrastructure 

Against this backdrop, the Africa Finance investment gap which continues to be stubbornly 

Corporation was conceived to address the high at US$93 billion (almost 8% of its GDP) 

challenges in order to accelerate investment in annually. 

infrastructure and so secure sustainable growth.   

Viewed strategically this gap however presents a AFC has sought to address this by identifying new 

clear opportunity. Investments in energy, communi- and successful African led approaches to 

cation, transportation and ICT have contributed developing viable and bankable infrastructure 

significantly to per capita income growth across projects and by securing the funding and technical 

the continent while delivering commercial returns expertise needed to deliver them, we can establish 

to those who have been willing to invest. Equally it a true roadmap to a sustainable future.

A 5-YEAR REVIEW

AFC has grown from a 2 member state supranational Institution to a 

multilateral development finance institution with 9 country members. We 

have expanded our portfolio of assets and footprint across 14 countries 

in Africa. In 2013 we continued to leverage our expertise in innovative 

deal structuring, financial advisory and project development in order to 

fulfil our vision of becoming the leading African institution active in 

infrastructure financing on the continent. 
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proved to be some of the most challenging in 

Our vision recent history. Slow growth in global output, 

The Africa Finance Corporation was established in combined with disruptions to credit flows in 

2007 as a Central Bank of Nigeria led public- developed markets affected commodity prices and 

private partnership with a vision to be the leading so the interests of African exporters. Balance of 

African financial institution financing infrastructure payments issues led to fiscal deficits as a result of 

development on the continent. reduced earnings and reduced Foreign Portfolio 

Investments (FPI) and Foreign Direct Investment 
Our founding investors, believed in the need for (FDI). Wholesale foreign capital outflows contrib-
Africa to take a leading role in addressing the uted to major currency declines in leading African 
infrastructure deficit on the continent. Instrumental markets, such as South Africa, Nigeria and Kenya; 
to the establishment of the AFC was the recogni- but compared to the wider world, where exposure 
tion that private sector capital and expertise was to mortgage, or the more complex financial 
required to stimulate innovation and investment products that drove the sub-prime crisis was 
into Africa's infrastructure. There have been many causing economic chaos, Africa was generally 
challenges on our journey, but these have insulated, its infrastructure however was not.
strengthened and enabled us to institutionalise a 

strong corporate governance culture and adopt a With the global economy almost in meltdown, a 

best practice approach that we believe is central to traditionally unattractive asset class, African 

our success today. We have grown progressively, infrastructure, with significant capital requirements 

taking a methodical approach to building the proved a difficult sell. Infrastructure finance flows, 

institutional strength required to address the scale alongside wider FDI, began to reduce throughout 

of the challenge we face. We have expanded our 2008 as providers re-assessed risk limits, credit 

membership base, with Nigeria, Gambia, Liberia, availability and the new macro-economic 

Sierra Leone, Guinea, Guinea Bissau, Chad, environment.

Ghana and Cape Verde joining, while we continue 

to attract new members as the value of our These difficult economic conditions were to 

proposition becomes clearer. continue into 2009 with output slowing as the 

impact of reduced commodity prices continued to 

An evolving economic environment bite. Oil exporting countries were hit particularly 

At AFC's launch in 2007, Africa was enjoying its hard, with the value of their goods and services 

strongest half decade of growth since the colonial falling almost 40%. Natural Resources reliant 

era.  Investor interest globally growing and the economies as a whole suffered. Consumption 

prospects for attracting international capital into a growth also dropped alongside total investment 

traditionally overlooked asset class - African spending, but FDI flows proved resilient and 

infrastructure, was optimistic. Outside the towards the end of the year, African currencies 

continent, things were different. The first indicators began to return to stability, and inflation moder-

of problems in the global sub-prime mortgage ated. Africa was demonstrating a greater level of 

sector were appearing as US and wider housing resilience than it had displayed in previous crises, 

market foreclosure rates soared and the global demonstrating its emerging strength.

liquidity boom initiated by the end of the cold war 

was coming to an end. The world was about to 2010 brought with it a new series of challenges, 

enter one of the toughest economic periods since with numerous African nations preparing for 

the 1930s. elections in 2011, the contagion effect of the 

global credit crisis was mitigated by confidence 

In 2008, Global macroeconomic conditions building measures taken by regulators in the host 
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country, despite the best  concerted efforts of domestic savings rates improved investor 

regulators and central banks around the world, perceptions and demonstrated the potential power 

financial flows globally were lower. This was a of an emerging middle class. 

difficult period for infrastructure projects that need 

This trend has further developed in 2013 ,with high levels of funding and a long term outlook.  At 

economic growth in both India (5%) and China the same time, a continued flood of liquidity into 

(7.3%) continuing to decelerate, while the developed economies, major quantitative easing 

Eurozone countries remain in recession (-0.4%) in the US and record low interest rate policies 

growth. The US has also experienced a marked across the US, UK and wider Eurozone forced 

deceleration in growth to (1.8%) fuelled by strong capital to look for returns in unlikely places, with 

political uncertainty and a rising fiscal deficit. Africa emerging as a beneficiary and the continent 

Against this background, Sub-Saharan Africa has began to return to a period of strong economic 

maintained a steady growth rate of 5%, driven by growth.

on-going record low interest rates in developed 

In 2011, this growth was consolidated as the markets, strong commodity prices, and stable 

global recovery began to show signs of resilience. equity markets.

African economic growth averaged 4.4%, while 

At the same time, the US policy of developing shale standout performers; Angola, Ghana (13.5%) and 

oil and gas to reduce reliance on foreign imports is Nigeria (6.9%) demonstrated the importance of 

beginning to bear fruit, with record production higher commodity prices for both new and existing 

levels of almost 7.5 million barrels a day overtak-oil producers. In North Africa the Arab Spring was 

ing Saudi Arabian production and significantly to dominate the year, and affect economic 

reducing imports into the US from West Africa in performance across key markets, while a series of 

particular. With slowing growth in India, China and elections across other African nations passed 

other emerging markets combined with the US smoothly. Globally, turmoil in Europe continued 

reduction in imports, pressure could be expected but the strength of France, Germany and a number 

on commodity prices going forward.of other small markets delivered 1.5% growth 

despite recession in Spain, Greece and Portugal. 
A period of strong growth in Africa is likely to face a Equally, the US recovery gathered pace with 1.8% 
number of challenges through 2014, as the growth while the recovery in the developed world 
economic recovery in the developed world gathers reduced growth in India to 7.1% (from 8.98%) and 
pace. The US Federal Reserve is reducing its China to 9.2% (from 10.3%). 
programme of quantitative easing and interest rate 

rises are potentially on the horizon as asset 2012 saw this pattern continue, with continued 

purchases are reduced. Such a move, would growth in the US (2.3%) while India (6.2%) and 

inevitably begin to attract capital back to the US China (7.8%) slowed down with both economies 

and other developed markets as competition for it suffering from higher commodity prices and 

becomes significantly greater. capital returning to developed markets.  Europe 

continued to struggle, with negative growth of -
While appetite for African risk amongst the global 0.7% while Sub-Saharan Africa maintained its 
investment community has been increasing over growth, at 4.8% and, for the first time, with 
recent years, drawn to the higher returns that significant input from a burgeoning services and 
higher risk markets inevitably provide, the cost of ICT telecommunications sector. A continued 
African credit remains relatively high. As European supply deficit, high commodity prices and low 
and US markets recover and returns at home returns in developed markets, all drove interest 
become easier to achieve, how much of the capital while domestic improvements in stability and 
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Africa has received in recent years will stay? What whether institutional, political or economic; from 

are some of the sustainable models that can be the initial debate around our legal status, 

adopted in order to address the infrastructure gap operations and political interference to the impact 

on the continent? To what extent has the evolution that the wider economic environment has had on 

of Africa's infrastructure as a commercially viable our ability to operate. Each of these challenges has 

asset class been proven? 2014/15 will be a critical been met head on and overcome and we are 

test, not only of the levels of interest in Africa's stronger for it. A strong and proven business 

infrastructure needs, but also in the sustainability of strategy, a world class corporate governance 

the continent's growth. The strong economic culture and a best practice approach have 

growth witnessed over the last few years has not established the basis for commercial success. In 

translated to improved socio- economic develop- figure 3.0, we summarise some of the key 

ment.  Income inequality, gender disparity and milestones in that success to date, achieved 

extreme poverty still remain a threat. Africa through two era's. The first (2007 - 11) in which we 

remains poor. Although GDP per capita established the foundations of the institution and 

(US$2,094) has grown substantially over the last the second (2011-13) in which we accelerated 

few years, it still falls far short of the world's average activity across each of our strategic priorities.

of US$10,103. The consensus view is that the 

Establishing the foundations missing link to this progress has been the lack of 

The mood at the launch of AFC was optimistic, the adequate infrastructure to accelerate real 

pre-2008 global economic environment was a economic growth and development.

growth story that stretched back for nearly two 

decades and Africa had begun to attract a greater An evolving institution

As our economic environment has evolved in the proportion of capital. It seemed like the perfect 

years since the establishment of AFC, the institution time to seek to establish African infrastructure as an 

has had to evolve alongside it. AFC has taken a asset class of interest to international commercial 

deliberately progressive approach to building the investors, not just the development finance 

institutional strength required to address the scale traditionally applied. 

of the challenge that we face. The African 

The onset of the financial crisis fundamentally continent's infrastructure deficit is not a challenge 

changed the risk appetite of the international that can or will be overcome quickly. Africa must 
investment community and left them looking build an institution capable of driving and 
internally as they fought for survival. For an supporting the growth in infrastructure projects and 
organisation seeking to overcome existing investor financing over decades, rather than years and so 
doubt about the viability of African infrastructure our foundations must be rock solid.
projects, this created a significant setback. Those 

institutions that might have been receptive in 2007 The Corporation has faced numerous challenges 

Economic Development Indicator 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Real GDP Growth rates (5%) 6.6 5.4 3.1 5.0 3.3 6.4

FDI Inflows US$ 000 51273 58894 52964 43582 47598 50041

Annual average crude oil price US$ 72.30 99.06 58.20 76.38 90.52 88.11
(inflation adjusted)

Figure 2.0: Key African Economic Indicators 

Source:  The World Bank, OECD, OPEC
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were no longer listening in 2008. The challenge progressive improvements against each of these 

facing AFC had become much greater. pillars. We have been selective about where we will 

focus our efforts, choosing power, natural 

As a result, and following a tumultuous initial year resources, transportation infrastructure, heavy 

our first years of operation were characterised by industry and telecommunications as our core focus 

the need to build the basis for an institution, and areas.

also to build the basis for a business. We needed to 

identify projects, build capacity and execution Geographic expansion

capability, while simultaneously building Over the last 5 years we have expanded our 

awareness with key audiences across the continent country membership, with Cape Verde, Chad, 

and internationally. At the same time, the nature of Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea Bissau, 

the challenge we faced meant that we were forced Liberia and Sierra Leone joining Nigeria, while we 

to think innovatively and to build strong structural continue to attract new members as the value of 

approaches that could overcome many of the our proposition becomes clearer.

obstacles to infrastructure financing that we found 

in our way. This requirement to ensure strong We have also rapidly expanded our investments 

foundations and a new approach created the basis across the continent. Since inception we have 

for strong growth as market conditions improved. reviewed and financed investments of US$1.9 

billion in over 22 countries across the continent 

Accelerated activity and innovation from Cape Verde in the West to Kenya in the East, 

From 2011 onwards the market has become South Africa in the South to Morocco in the North, 

steadily more receptive to African long term risk with our first equity investment in Main One 

and we have seen a commensurate increase in the cable, in 2008 and our first debt investment in the 

size and breadth of our portfolio, the volume and Jubilee oil field off the West coast of Ghana in 

quality of our financing partners and the strength of 2009. These projects are successful, attractive 

our financial performance. investments underpinned by solid economic 

fundamentals, but each required technical and 

Our approach has been built based on three financial support, structured in the right way to get 

strategic pillars: Investments, partnerships, them over the finishing line. 

Members. Since inception we have delivered 

Technical
committee set-up
to produce AFC
concept paper

AFC set-up as
CBN lead PPP
with  banks

FGN institutes
panel of inquiry
into CBN 
investment in AFC

Board appoints
Andrew Alli as New 
Chief Executive to 
replace pioneer CEO

Subsidiary 
committees of 
Board established

First equity 
investment 
approved into Main 
One Cable

Gambia, Liberia, Sierra-
Leone and Guinea join 
AFC

First debt investment: 
Kosmos Ghana

Nigeria positively 
concludes inquiry

Inaugural IFRS based 
financial statements 
approved by AGM

Bayo Ogunlesi joins 
Board as new Chairman

Deal of the Year Award 
with HSBC and Afrexim

President of Nigeria 
signs ratification 
instruments for 
Establishment and 
Headquarters 
Agreements

Five year business 
plan developed and 
approved by Board

AFC appointed 
Technical Adviser to 
CBN on power and 
aviation fund

US$775mm in 
approved investment 
transactions

Ghana joins AFC and 
pledges US$50mm 
investment

Broad pan-african 
business footprint: 
Ghana, CIV, Zambia, 
Ethiopia, South Africa, 
Cape Verde, Kenya

Financial results in 
line with five year 
plan

US$881mm 
investment portfolio

Chad joins AFC 

Gambia national 
Assembly formally 
ratify AFC 
membership

Key investment EURO 
270mm Henry Konan 
Bedie Bridge, Cote d' 
Ivoire

Nigeria Power 
Privatisation 
Investments of 
US$150 mm in 
generation and 
distribution 

Cape Verde joins AFC

Private Sector 
participant - US$7bn 
US President Obama's 
Power Africa Initiative

First International 
Credit Rating – 
Moody's Investor's 
Services

Figure 3.0: AFC Brief History and Evolution  
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Source: World Bank, OECD, African Economic Outlook.
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Trade Finance and
Risk Participation Bank

Expansion Capital

First Hydrocarbon Nigeria Limited 

US$230.0m

Senior Secured Syndicated Facility 

2012

ARM Cement Limited

Convertible Loan

2012

Project Development Facility

US$15.0m

Co-arranger & Manager

Konan Bedie Bridge

270.00m

2012

Mandated Lead Arranger
- Subordinated debt facility

US$470.0m

Figure 3.0: Growing Africa Franchise
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In spite of such ‘south-south’ investment flows, Africa transforming Africa
African governments continue to face constraints 

in raising long-term finance for infrastructure 

One of the key questions that must be asked when development. With the exception of South Africa 

considering the long term sustainability of and, more recently, countries such as Ethiopia, 

infrastructure as an asset class in Africa is: To what Kenya and Nigeria, African capital markets are 

extent is the continent taking a leading role in generally under-developed. The relatively small 

project development and financing? To what size of the commercial banking sector has meant 

extent is the strong and steady economic growth that most African capital markets lack the 

the continent is experiencing a result of proactive capacity to finance large-scale infrastructure 

action by African governments, institutions and projects due to asset-liability mismatch. In 

corporations, and to what extent is it a function of addition, the majority of African economies have 

wider economic issues? As the world economy traditionally suffered from low or non-existent 

moves back into a potential growth phase and the credit ratings, which has restricted private 

capital that came to Africa looking for returns investment and raised governments' cost of 

considers its increasing investment options, the finance.

need for African capital to fill the existing and 

Africans have the longest-term view for Africa and potential gap in infrastructure financing is 

should play a crucial role in filling part of the heightened.  This external 'threat' to Africa's long 

investment gap. With the rise of pension funds term growth only serves to further highlight the 

and life companies which have long-term need for Africa to explore new sources of 

liabilities naturally suited to infrastructure assets infrastructure financing a little closer to home.

which have similar time-frames, efforts need to be 

Africa cannot rely on the rest of the world to made to encourage potential African investors to 

deliver the projects and investments required for keep their investments a little closer to home.

its growth. The continent must play an active role 

in the development of its own infrastructure. This Partnerships
does not mean that there is no place for 

international investments; on the contrary, 

bridging Africa's infrastructure deficit will require As an institution we recognise that the scale of 

a combination of different entities coming Africa's infrastructure challenge is beyond the 

together collaboratively but African investments capacity of any one institution, or nation, to 

will need to feature strongly in this mix. tackle. At AFC, we have a balance sheet today of 

Indigenous investments are also a good way to approximately US$2 billion. By 2016, our goal is 

ensure that the value of investments in Africa can to strengthen our balance sheet in order to 

be felt in Africa. double our total assets. When we compare these 

numbers to the scale of the investment deficit, it is 

There has been some progress in Africans clear that we must all work together to overcome 

investing in Africa and recent years have seen this challenge. Partnerships and innovation will 

African banks, DFIs and financiers like AFC invest be a core driver for change, between the public 

earnestly and consistently in African infrastructure and private and within the private sector itself. 

projects. African countries are also investing in Between individual African nations and 

other African countries, for example in 2009 institutions and between Africa and the rest of the 

alone; South Africa invested $1.6 billion in other world.

African countries.
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At AFC, we believe our core role comes at the local knowledge, technical expertise and 

earliest stage of project conception and financial acumen required to deliver successful 

development. While international capital will be projects from concept to execution and 

fundamental in bridging the investment divide, operation. AFC is the perfect partner for 

capital will have nowhere to go if Africa does not financiers and sponsors looking to make 

focus on the development of bankable, investments in the African continent, whether you 

sustainable projects. By focusing on supporting are African or not. We have a strong balance 

project development and using our local sheet, proven expertise and we do things properly 

knowledge and sector expertise to identify and (proven by our rating and financial performance), 

mitigate risks, we come in to transactions at an this is backed up by a solid portfolio and zero 

earlier stage than many investors. One of our key non-performing loans. 

priorities is to accelerate the number of viable, 

Fundamentally, AFC is positioned to build and bankable projects across the continent, creating 

prove the viability of African infrastructure as a the market for other forms of capital to follow, and 

viable global asset class, driving wider investment ultimately bridging the investment divide that 

into the continent and so stimulating the exists. 

development of the infrastructure that will drive 

Increasingly, the role of the AFC is also being the next phase of Africa's long term growth. Our 

recognised as a key 'bridge' between the financial results demonstrate that this is 

international finance that is essential and the achievable on a commercial basis.  
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY

T
he directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial 

year that gives a true and fair view of the state of financial affairs of the Corporation at the 

end of the year and of its profit or loss. The directors are also responsible for ensuring that the 

Corporation keeps proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the 

financial position of the Corporation.They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 

Corporation.

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared 

using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable estimates, in conformity with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. The directors further accept responsibility for the 

maintenance of accounting records that may be relied upon in the preparation of the financial 

statements, as well as for designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 

preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Corporation will not remain a 

going concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements, presented on pages 5 to 59, were approved by the Board of 

Directors on 24 March 2014 and were signed on its behalf by:

__________________ __________________

Chairman President & CEO 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GENERAL MEETING
OF THE AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION

I
n compliance with the provisions of Article 28 of the Charter of the Africa Finance Corporation 

and pursuant to the terms of the Audit and Compliance Committee (the “Committee”) statute 

concerning the establishment, membership, functions and powers of the Audit Committee of the 

Africa Finance Corporation, the Committee considered the audited financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2013, at its meeting held on 7 March 2014.

In our opinion, the scope and planning of the audit for the year ended 31 December 2013 were 

adequate.

The Committee reviewed and was satisfied with the auditor's submissions. 

After due consideration, the Committee accepted the report of the auditors to the effect that the 

financial statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards and gave a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Corporation's financial 

condition as at 31 December 2013.

The Committee, therefore, recommended that the audited financial statements of the Corporation 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 and the auditor's report thereon be approved by 

the Board and presented for consideration by shareholders at the general meeting.

The Committee accepted the provision made in the financial statements for the remuneration of the 

auditors and recommended that the Board accept same. Furthermore, the Committee 

recommended to the shareholders, the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the 

Corporation's external auditors for the 2014 Financial Year.

________________________

Tunde Lemo, OFR

Chairman, Audit & Compliance Committee

Members of the Committee

Mr. Aigboje Aig-Imoukhuede, CON 

Mr. Aliyu Dikko

Mr. Emeka Emuwa

Mr. Jibril Aku

Mr. Lewis Tung 

Mr. Ebenezer Onyeagwu
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

TO THE MEMBERS OF AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION

Report on the financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Africa Finance Corporation (“the 

Corporation”). These financial statements comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2013 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory notes. 

Directors' responsibility for the financial statements 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control, as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the entity's  internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 

Corporation's financial affairs as at 31 December 2013 and of its financial performance and cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Chartered Accountants

Engagement partner: Patrick Obianwa

FRC/2013/ICAN/000000000880 

Lagos, Nigeria 

PricewaterhouseCooper Chartered Accountants, 25E Muri Okunola Street, Victoria Island Lagos, Nigeria.

27 March 2014 



Note* Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

Interest income 6 74,295 65,760

Interest expense 6 (12,696) (2,675)

Net interest income 61,599 63,085

Dividend income 7 - 366

Fees and commission income 8 20,592 13,014

Operating income 82,191 76,465

Net gains on financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss 9 29,082 27,989

Operating expenses 10 (31,220) (28,335)

Profit for the year 80,053 76,119

Other Comprehensive Income:

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 18 7,250 7,113

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 87,303 83,232

Earnings per share for profit attributable to 

equity holders during the period (expressed in

United States cents per share)

-basic 12 7.35 6.99

-diluted 12 7.35 6.99

*The accompanying notes 55-105 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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Note* Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with commercial banks 13 53,223 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 14 656,135 633,467

Derivative financial instruments 15 1,010 296

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16 139,494 90,685

Loans and advances to other customers 17 518,711 465,210

Investment securities 18 516,134 300,485

Other assets 19 36,453 10,728

Property and equipment 20 2,133 2,155

Intangible assets 21 1,282  1,020

Total assets 1,924,575 1,697,212

LIABILITIES:

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 22 10,603 193,980

Derivative financial instruments 15 5 858

Borrowings 23 631,960 266,285

Total liabilities 642,568 461,123

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the Corporation's equity holders

Share capital 26 1,089,067 1,089,067

Retained earnings 27 178,577 139,909

Fair value reserves 28 14,363 7,113

Total equity 1,282,007 1,236,089

Total liabilities and equity 1,924,575 1,697,212

*The accompanying notes 55-105 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Share Retained Other
Capital Earnings Reserves Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 1 January 2012 1,089,117 78,790 7,113 1,167,907

Shares repurchased during the year (50) - - (50) 

Dividends paid during the year - (15,000) - (15,000)

Total comprehensive income - 76,119 7,113 83,232

As at 31 December 2012 1,089,067 139,909 7,113 1,236,089

Dividends paid during the year - (41,385) - (41,385)

Total comprehensive income - 80,053 7,250 87,303

As at 31 December 2013 1,089,067 178,577 14,363 1,282,007

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Note* Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 70,667 68,828

Interest expense (9,518) (2,087)

Fee and commission receipts 17,146 13,796

Dividend income 7 - 366

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (29,019) (22,119)

Other assets (25,725) (5,248)

Loans and advances to customers (26,129) (127,186)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (18,426) (50,460)

Other liabilities (182,322) 180,826

Net cash from operating activities (203,326) 56,716

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities 18 (277,575) (83,989)

Capital repayments of available-for-sale investment securities 18 69,176 86,373

Disposal of property and equipment 73 98

Purchase of property and equipment 20 (891) (1,531)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 21 (798) (752)

Net cash from investment activities (210,015) 199

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings 362,497 185,570

Dividend payments (41,385) (14,970)

Re- purchase of stock - (52)

Net cash from financing activities 321,112 170,548

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (92,229) 227,463

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 798,571 571,108

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 30 706,342 798,571

*The accompanying notes 55-105 are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Africa Finance Corporation (“AFC” or the “Corporation”) is a multilateral development finance 

institution established by an international agreement between sovereign states.

AFC was created by two constitutive legal instruments: (i) the Agreement for the Establishment of the 

Africa Finance Corporation (the “AFC Agreement”) and (ii) the Charter of the Africa Finance 

Corporation (the “AFC Charter”). AFC is headquartered in the Federal Republic of Nigeria, based on 

the Headquarters Agreement dated 28 May 2007 between the Federal Republic of Nigeria and the 

Africa Finance Corporation. AFC's headquarters is located at 3a Osborne Road, Ikoyi, Lagos, 

Nigeria.

The Corporation's shareholders comprise African States, corporate entities such as major commercial 

banks and financial institutions and other private sector commercial entities.  The current member 

states are Chad, Ghana, Guinea Bissau, Guinea Conakry, Liberia, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Cape Verde 

and The Gambia. Other potential member States are going through the process of achieving 

membership of the Corporation in accordance with their respective internal procedures.  

Twenty five (25) shareholders have thus far subscribed and paid for shares in AFC in accordance with 

the terms of the AFC Charter. As at 31 December 2013, the list of shareholders holding 5% or more of 

the issued share capital of the Corporation is as follows:

Name of Shareholder Percentage of shareholding (%)

Central Bank of Nigeria 42.5

United Bank of Africa Plc 10.7

Access Bank Plc 10.2

First Bank of Nigeria Plc 9.2

WEMPCO Limited 4.6

Gloria Investment Limited 4.6

The Corporation's primary objective is to finance infrastructure, heavy industry and natural resource 

projects in Africa and to provide advisory, project development and other services related thereto.

The Corporation commenced operations on 1 November 2007 after certain conditions prescribed in 

its constitutive instruments were fulfilled.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorised and approved for 

issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2014. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The Principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 

below.  These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB).  The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (US$) rounded to the 

nearest thousand. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention, except for derivative financial instruments, available-for-sale financial assets, 

financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which have been 

measured at fair value.

The financial statements comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 

financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and explanatory 

notes.

The statement of cash flows shows the change in cash and cash equivalents during the year from 

operating, financing and investing activities.  Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid 

investments. Note 30 shows which items of the statement of financial position are included in 

cash and cash equivalents.

The cash flow from operating activities is determined using the direct method. The Corporation's 

assignment of cash flows to operating, financing and investing categories depends on the 

Corporation's business model (management approach).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise judgement in the process of 

applying the Corporation's accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant 

impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions changed. The areas involving a 

higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 

significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Corporation

i. Fair value measurement

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the Corporation has applied 

the new definition of fair value prospectively. The change had no significant impact on 

the measurements of the Corporation's assets and liabilities.
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ii. Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

As a result of the amendments of IAS1(R), the Corporation has modified the 

presentation of OCI items in its statement of profit or loss and OCI, to present items that 

would be reclassified to profit or loss in the future separately from those that would 

never be. Comparative information has been re-presented accordingly.

iii. Disclosure of interests in other entities

As a result of IFRS 12, the Corporation has expanded disclosures about its interest in 

other entities (Note 16).

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been 

adopted early by the Corporation.

Apart from the new standards applied as stated above, no other new standard with annual 

periods beginning after 1 January 2013 is expected to have a significant effect on the 

financial statements of the Corporation, except the following:

IFRS 9, 'Financial instruments', addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of 

financial assets and financial liabilities. Issued in November 2009 and October 2010, it 

replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial 

instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement 

categories: those measured at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. The 

determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity's 

business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 

39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for 

financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity's own credit risk is recorded 

in other comprehensive income rather than the statement of comprehensive income, unless 

this creates an accounting mismatch. The directors are yet to assess IFRS 9's full impact but 

intend to adopt IFRS 9 no later than its effective date. The directors will also consider the 

impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed by the IASB.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected 

to have a material impact on the Corporation.

2.2  Foreign currency translation

a) Functional and presentation currency

Items presented in the Corporation's financial statements are measured in its functional currency 

(United States Dollars) and figures are stated in thousands of dollars.

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
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assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rate as at the 

reporting date. If several exchange rates are available, the forward rate is used at which the future 

cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have been settled if those cash flows 

had occurred. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign 

currency are translated with the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary 

items in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as 

available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the 

amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. 

Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, 

and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or 

loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary 

items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the other 

comprehensive income.

2.3 Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets and liabilities, which include derivative financial instruments, have to be 

recognised in the statement of financial position and measured in accordance with their assigned 

category.

2.3.1 Financial Assets

The Corporation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and 

available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines the classification at initial 

recognition. The Corporation uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when 

recording financial asset transactions (see note 3.7 on financial instruments by category).

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated 

at fair value through profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 

purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 

actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
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unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments.  All derivatives are carried 

as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Financial 

assets held for trading consist of debt instruments, including money-market paper, traded 

corporate loans, and equity instruments, as well as financial assets with embedded 

derivatives. They are recognised in the statement of financial position as 'Financial assets 

held for trading'. There were no such assets in the current year.

The Corporation designates certain financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value 

through profit or loss (fair value option). This designation cannot subsequently be changed 

and can only be applied when the following conditions are met:

Ÿ the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch 

that would otherwise arise or

Ÿ the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instruments which is risk managed 

and reported to senior management on a fair value basis or

Ÿ the financial assets consist of debt host and an embedded derivative that must be 

separated. 

Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; 

transaction costs are taken directly to profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in 

fair value are included directly in profit or loss and are reported as 'Net gains/(losses) on 

financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income and 

expense and dividend income and expenses on financial assets held for trading are included 

in 'Net interest income' or 'Dividend income', respectively. 

Equity investments that result in the Corporation having a significant influence, but not 

control, over the financial and operating policies of the investee companies are carried in the 

statement of financial position at fair value through profit or loss rather than accounted for as 

associates using the equity method of accounting. This treatment is permitted by IAS 28 

Investment in Associates, which requires investments held by venture capital organizations 

and similar financial institutions to be excluded from its scope where those investments are 

designated, upon initial recognition, as at fair value through profit or loss and accounted for 

in accordance with IAS 39, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement in 

the period of the change.”

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than:

(a) those that the Corporation intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are 

classified as held for trading, and those that the Corporation upon initial recognition 

designates at fair value through profit or loss; or 

(b) those that the Corporation upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or

(c) those for which the Corporation may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, 

other than because of credit deterioration.
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Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration 

to originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured 

subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(c) Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Corporation's management has the positive intention 

and ability to hold to maturity, other than:

(a) those that the Corporation upon initial recognition designates at fair value through 

profit or loss; 

(b) those that the Corporation designates as available-for-sale; and

(c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.

These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs 

and measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the statement of comprehensive 

income and reported as 'interest income'. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss 

is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income as 'net gains/(losses) on investments’. Held-to-maturity 

investments are corporate and sovereign securities.  

(d) Available-for-Sale

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, 

which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange 

rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 

investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale investments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and 

are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from remeasurement are 

recognized in other comprehensive income except for exchange gains and losses on the 

translation of debt securities, which are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income. When an available-for-sale investment is sold or impaired, the accumulated gains 

or losses are moved from other comprehensive income to the income statement and are 

included in “other gains and losses (net)”. 

Available-for-sale investments are classified as non-current, unless an investment matures 

within twelve months, or management expects to dispose of it within twelve months. Interest 

on available-for-sale debt instruments, calculated using the effective interest method, is 

recognized in the statement of income as part of interest income. Dividends on available-for-

sale equity instruments are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as 

dividend income when the Corporation's right to receive payment is established.
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2.3.2 Financial Liabilities

The Corporation's holding in financial liabilities represents mainly borrowings and other 

liabilities. Such financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost.

(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category comprises two sub-categories: financial liabilities classified as held for trading 

and financial liabilities designated by the Corporation at fair value through profit or loss 

upon initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for 

the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of 

identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of 

a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held 

for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments. Financial 

liabilities held for trading also include obligations to deliver financial assets borrowed where 

the Corporation is a short seller. Those financial instruments are recognised in the statement 

of financial position as 'Financial liabilities held for trading'.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities classified as held for 

trading are included in the statement of comprehensive income and are reported as 'Net 

gains/(losses) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss'. Interest expenses 

on financial liabilities held for trading are included in 'Net interest income'.

Where the Corporation designates certain debt securities upon initial recognition as at fair 

value through profit or loss (fair value option); this designation cannot be changed 

subsequently. 

There are no financial liabilities classified as held for trading or specifically designated at fair 

value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2013.

(b) Other liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not classified at fair value through profit or loss fall into this 

category and are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised 

cost are borrowings, debt securities in issue for which the fair value option are not applied, 

convertible bonds and subordinated debts.

2.3.3 Determination of fair value

'Fair value' is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal 

or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Corporation has access at that 

date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. When available, the 
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Corporation measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active 

market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or 

liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 

ongoing basis. If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Corporation uses 

valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the 

use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors 

that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally 

the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the 

Corporation determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction 

price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an 

identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from 

observable markets, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted 

to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. 

Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the 

life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable 

market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the 

Corporation measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short 

positions at an ask price. Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are 

exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by the Corporation on the basis of 

the net exposure to either market or credit risk are measured on the basis of a price that 

would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for a 

particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level adjustments are allocated to the individual 

assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each of the individual 

instruments in the portfolio.

The Corporation, in circumstances whereby this is applicable, uses widely recognised 

valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised financial instruments of 

lower complexity.  Inputs into models are generally market-observable for these financial 

instruments.

For more complex instruments, the Corporation uses internally developed models, which are 

usually based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within 

the industry. Valuation models are used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the over-

the-counter market, unlisted debt securities (including those with embedded derivatives), 

unlisted equity and other debt instruments for which markets were or have become illiquid. 

Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore 

estimated based on assumptions. 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be 

determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors 

relevant to the positions the Corporation holds. Valuations are therefore adjusted, where 

appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risks, liquidity risk and 
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counterparty credit risk. Based on the established fair value model governance policies, and 

related controls and procedures applied, management believes that these valuation 

adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state the values of financial instruments 

carried at fair value in the statement of financial position. Price data and parameters used in 

the measurement procedures applied are generally reviewed carefully and adjusted, if 

necessary – particularly in view of current market developments.

In cases where the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the 

instruments are carried at cost less impairment. 

The fair value of contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments correspond to their 

carrying amounts.

2.4 Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these 

assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and 

rewards have not been transferred, the Corporation tests control to ensure that continuing 

involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent derecognition). 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished. 

2.5 Reclassification of financial assets

The Corporation may choose to reclassify a non-derivative financial asset held for trading out of 

the held for trading category if the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in 

the near-term. Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted to be reclassified 

out of the held for trading category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is 

unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near-term. In addition, the Corporation may choose to 

reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held 

for trading or available-for-sale categories if the Corporation has the intention and ability to hold 

these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification. 

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new 

cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded 

before reclassification date are subsequently made.  Effective interest rates for financial assets 

reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at the 

reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest rates 

prospectively. On reclassification of a financial asset out of the 'at fair value through profit or loss' 

category, all embedded derivatives are re-assessed and, if necessary, separately accounted for.

2.6 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial 

position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2.7 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within 

'interest income' and 'interest expense' in the statement of comprehensive income using the 

effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 

financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 

receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 

period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  The calculation 

includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of 

an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the 

future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.8 Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been 

provided except for structuring fees (i.e. fees related to structuring, term sheet negotiation and 

coordination) which are recognised at the completion of work. Commitment fees for loans that 

are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an 

adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Commission and fees arising from 

negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party – such as the 

arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities, or the purchase or sale of businesses 

– are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management 

advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a 

time-apportioned basis. Performance-linked fees or fee components are recognised when the 

performance criteria are fulfilled.

2.9  Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements 'repos' are reclassified in the financial 

statements as pledged assets when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or re-

pledge the collateral. Where this right to sell or re-pledge does not exist, the transferee does not 

reclassify the assets but discloses the 'repos' as a note in the financial statements. the counterparty 

liability is included in amounts due to other banks, deposits from banks, other deposits or 

deposits due to customers, as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreements to resell 

(reverse repos) are recorded as loans and advances to other banks or customers, as appropriate. 

The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the 

life of the agreements using the effective interest method. Securities lent to counterparties are also 

retained in the financial statements.
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2.10 Impairment of financial assets

a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Corporation assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition of 

the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 

flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of assets is impaired includes observable data that 

comes to the attention of the Corporation about the following loss events:-

a) significant financial difficulty of the borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments;

c) the corporation granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the 

borrower's financial difficulty, a concession that the Corporation would not otherwise 

consider;

d) it has become probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation;

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties; or

f) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although 

the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the Corporation, 

including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Corporation; or 

- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the  

Corporation.

The Corporation first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 

financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets 

that are not individually significant.  If the Corporation determines that no objective evidence of 

impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it 

includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 

collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 

and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective 

assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 

incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of 

the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  If a loan or held-to-maturity asset has a 

variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 
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interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Corporation may 

measure impairment on the basis of an instrument's fair value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated cash flows of a collateralised financial asset 

reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the 

collateral, whether or not the foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the 

basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Corporation's grading process 

that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and 

other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for 

groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors' ability to pay all amounts due according 

to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. There were no group of assets that 

qualified for collective impairment as at 31 December 2013.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are 

estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Corporation and historical 

loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Corporation.  

Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects 

of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based 

and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect, and be directionally 

consistent with, changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes 

in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in 

the probability of losses in the Corporation and their magnitude). The methodology and 

assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Corporation to 

reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. 

Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 

amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 

decrease the amount of provision for loan impairment in the statement of comprehensive 

income. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised 

(such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss 

is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income when applicable.

b) Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Corporation assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity 

investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 

the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any 
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such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the 

difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 

financial asset previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income – is removed 

from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period, 

the fair value of an equity investment  classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase 

can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit 

or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through Other Comprehensive Income. For debt 

instruments classified as available for sale, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 

annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 

separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). The impairment test also can be 

performed on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell or the value in use can be 

determined reliably. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances 

with less than three month's maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-

restricted balances with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, loans and advances to 

banks, amounts due from other banks and short term government securities.

2.13 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 

entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from 

quoted market prices in active markets (for example, for exchange-traded options), including 

recent market transactions, and valuation techniques (for example, for swaps and currency 

transactions) including discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. 

All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is 

negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the conversion option in a 

purchased convertible bond, are treated as separate derivatives when their economic 

characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract 

is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are separately 

accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income unless the Corporation chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair 

value through profit or loss.
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Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting 

are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income under 'net gains/ (losses) 

on financial instruments classified as held for trading'. However, the gains and losses arising from 

changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction with financial assets or 

financial liabilities designated at fair value are included in 'net gains on financial instruments 

designated at fair value'.

2.14 Hedge accounting

Derivatives are used to hedge interest rate, exchange rate, commodity, and equity exposures and 

exposures related to non-trading positions. Where derivatives are held for risk management 

purposes, and when transactions meet the required criteria, the Corporation applies fair value 

hedge accounting, cash flow hedge accounting, or hedging of a net investment in a foreign 

operation as appropriate to the risks being hedged. When a financial instrument is designated as 

a hedge, the Corporation formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 

and hedged item as well as its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the 

various hedging transactions. The Corporation also documents its assessment, both at hedge 

inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 

transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The Corporation discontinues hedge accounting when:

a) it is determined that a derivative is not, or has ceased to be, highly effective as a hedge;

b) the derivative expires, is terminated, or exercised;

c)  the hedged item matures or is repaid.

a) Fair value hedge accounting

Changes in fair value of derivatives that qualify and are designated as fair value hedges are 

recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, together with changes in the fair value of the 

hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge relationship no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, it is discontinued. For fair value hedges of interest 

rate risk, the fair value adjustment to the hedged item is amortised to the statement of 

comprehensive income over the period to maturity of the previously designated hedge 

relationship using the effective interest method. If the hedged item is sold or repaid, the 

unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive 

income.

b) Cash flow hedges

For qualifying cash flow hedges, the fair value gain or loss associated with the effective portion of 

the cash flow hedge is recognised initially in shareholders' equity, and recycled to the statement of 

comprehensive income in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. Any 

ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income immediately. When a hedging instrument expires or when a hedge no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at 

that time remains in equity and is recognised when the hedged item is ultimately recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income. 

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 201368

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | THE ROAD TO ECONOMIC TRANSFORMATION



c) Hedges of net investments

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations, including monetary items that are accounted for 

as part of the net investment, are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges; the effective 

portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity and the 

ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. The 

cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income on the disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation, or other 

reductions in the Corporation's investment in the operation.

Hedges of net investments may include non-derivative liabilities as well as derivative financial 

instruments.

2.15 Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 

item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The carrying 

amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to residual value over 

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvement 25 years or over the period of the lease, if less.

Furniture and equipment 3 - 8 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 

each reporting period.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An asset's carrying 

amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 

asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  

These are included in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.16 Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from computer software licences 

and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost. Intangible assets with 
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definite useful lives are amortised using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 

economic life. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. At each date of the 

statement of financial position, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or 

changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangibles assets are 

analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Corporation chooses to 

use the cost model for the measurement after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 

lives are annually tested for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 

impaired.

a) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 

and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected 

useful lives.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as 

an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and 

unique software products controlled by the Corporation, and that will generate economic benefits 

exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the 

software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over 

3 years.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and 

unique software products controlled by the Corporation are recognised as intangible assets when 

the following criteria are met:

(i) It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

(ii) Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

(iii) There is an ability to use or sell the software product;

(iv) It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic 

benefits;

(v) Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 

or sell the software product are available; and

(vi) The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 

incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 

in a subsequent period.

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 201370

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | THE ROAD TO ECONOMIC TRANSFORMATION



b) Project Development Expenditure

Costs associated with development of projects are capitalised when they meet the following 

recognition requirements of IAS 38: (i) the cost can be separated from other costs of the business; 

(ii) future economic benefits will flow to the Corporation; (iii) the cost can be measured reliably.

2.17 Employee Benefits

The Corporation established a defined contributory pension scheme in the year under review. This 

is a pension plan under which the Corporation pays fixed contributions (7.5% of basic salary) and 

employees contribute a minimum of 5% of their basic salary into a separate entity. 

The Corporation has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund 

does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the 

current and prior periods. 

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive 

income when it falls due. 

2.18 Provisions

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Corporation has a 

present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is 

recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 

class of obligations is small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle 

the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of 

time is recognised as interest expense.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of 

consideration received) net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at 

amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption 

value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing 

using the effective interest method.
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2.20 Share capital

a) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the 

acquisition of a business are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

b) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the year in which they are approved 

by the Corporation's shareholders.

c) Treasury shares

Where the Corporation purchase its equity shares, the consideration paid is deducted from 

total shareholders' equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled.  Where such shares are 

subsequently sold or re-issued, any consideration received is included in shareholders' 

equity.

2.21 Dividend income and payment

Dividend incomes are recognised in profit or loss when the Corporation's right to receive payment 

is established. Dividend payments on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which 

they are declared.

2.22 Acceptances and letters of credit

Acceptances and letters of credit are accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions and 

disclosed as contingent liabilities.

2.23 Comparatives

Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are 

reported or disclosed with comparative information. Where IAS 8 applies, comparative figures 

will be adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

AFC's business philosophy recognises that risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. 

The Corporation's aim, therefore, is not to eliminate all risks, but to design policies; processes and 

procedures that will enable it achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return. AFC believes 

that a strong risk management function is key to its successful long-term operations. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

AFC operates a multi-layered risk management governance structure, with the Board of Directors at 

its apex, exercising and assuming ultimate authority and responsibility for the Corporation's risk 

management. Other layers in the risk management governance structure are: (i) the Board Risk and 

Investment Committee, responsible for oversight and approval of risk policies, and credit approvals 

above management's authority levels; (ii) Executive Management Committee (EXCO), responsible for 

review of investment proposals, and exercise of management's delegated authority for investment 

3. Financial Risk Management
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approvals; (iii) Management Risk Committee, responsible for the risk policy review and 

implementation; (iv) Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), responsible for monitoring and 

management of the Corporation's liquidity and interest rate risks; (v) Risk Management Department, 

responsible for risk policy development, management and monitoring; and (vi) Business Units, 

responsible for the creation and management of risk assets.

The most important types of risks faced by the Corporation are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and 

operational risk. These individual sources of risk and how the Corporation manages them are 

described in more detail below.

 

3.1 Credit Risk

The Corporation takes on exposures to credit risk, which is the risk of financial loss as a result of a 

failure by a client or counterparty to meet its contractual obligation to the Corporation. The 

Corporation has two principal sources of credit risk: (i) credit risk on its loans and investments; 

and (ii) counterparty credit risk on its portfolio of treasury investments. The first source of credit risk 

has become increasingly significant as the level of the Corporation's investment portfolio has 

risen. The Corporation's credit risks are managed within a framework of credit policies, guidelines 

and processes, which are described in more detail below:

3.1.1 Project and Investment Credit Risk

The Corporation has developed a comprehensive Credit Risk Policy (CRP) that details its risk 

philosophy and metrics. The CRP defines the level and type of credit exposures that AFC is 

prepared to accept in order to achieve its business goals and objectives. It defines the 

Corporation's risk appetite along three key metrics; Capital Adequacy Framework, Exposure 

Limits Framework and Credit Risk Acceptance criteria.

AFC's Capital Adequacy Framework creates a quantifiable link between the risks assumed 

and the amount of risk capital required to support those risks. The capital adequacy 

framework ensures that the Corporation holds adequate levels of capital to support its 

investment operations.

AFC uses the Exposure Limits Framework to manage its exposures to individual and group 

credit risks. The objective is to ensure that AFC avoids excessive portfolio concentration 

either in single projects or groups of projects, or in particular sectors that could be 

simultaneously affected by similar exogenous events. The Exposure Limits Framework 

defines the limits of risk exposures in relation to a single borrower or groups of borrowers, to 

industry sectors and to individual countries. The limits are recommended by management 

and approved by the Board Risk and Investment Committee.

The Credit Risk Acceptance Criteria refer to the set of terms and conditions to be met before 

an investment is accepted into AFC's portfolio. These include specific industry, financial, 

managerial and competitive benchmarks that proposed investments must meet before they 

are considered for AFC credit exposures.
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3.1.2 Counterparty Credit Risk

AFC invests its liquid assets in different financial instruments to generate income. These 

financial instruments involve, to some degree, the risk that the counterparty to the 

transaction may be unable to meet its obligation to the Corporation when it falls due. The 

Corporation manages this counterparty risk by executing transactions within a prudent 

framework of approved counterparties, counterparty credit rating standards and 

counterparty risk exposures limits. The risk exposure limit for each counterparty is a function 

of the counterparty's credit rating and its shareholders funds (unimpaired by losses). The risk 

limits are proposed by the Risk Management Division and approved by the Executive 

Management Committee.

3.1.3 Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a 

product varies with changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. 

The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the 

likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations 

between counterparties.

The Corporation has developed models to support the quantification of credit risk. These 

rating and scoring models are in use for all key credit portfolios and form the basis for 

measuring default risks. In measuring credit risk of loan and advances at a counterparty level, 

the Corporation considers three components: (i) the 'probability of default' (PD) by the client or 

counterparty on its contractual obligations; (ii) current exposures to the counterparty and its 

likely future development, from which the Corporation derive the 'exposure at default' (EAD); 

and (iii) the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations (the 'loss given default') (LGD). The 

models are reviewed regularly to monitor their robustness relative to actual performance and 

amended as necessary to optimise their effectiveness.

3.1.4 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Corporation manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are 

identified − in particular, to individual counterparties and corporations, and to industries and 

countries. The Corporation structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on 

the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers, and to 

geographical and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and 

subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary. Limits on the level 

of credit risk by product, industry sector and country are approved by the Board Risk and 

Investment Committee.
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3.1.5 Risk Concentration

Maximum exposure
2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Balances with central and commercial banks 53,223 193,166

Loan and advances to banks 656,135 633,467

Loan and advances to other customers 518,711 465,210

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 139,494 90,685

Investment Securities 416,168 204,792

Other assets 31,106 4,897

At 31 December 1,814,837 1,592,217

Commitments 138,115 163,646

The above table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposure of the Corporation 

as at the reporting dates without taking account of any collateral held or other credit 

enhancements attached. The exposures are based on net carrying amounts as reported in 

the statement of financial position.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and effectively manage the credit 

risk exposure in the Corporation's loan and advances portfolio.

3.1.6 Credit quality analysis

2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:

- loans and advances to banks 656,135 633,467

- loans and advances to other customers 518,711 465,210

- loans designated at fair value through 

profit or loss (Note 16) 77,835 50,243

Debt securities 416,168 204,792

Total unimpaired nor past due loans,

advances and debt securities 1,668,849 1,353,712

The Corporation has no provision for loans and advances as at 31 December 2013 

because no loans and advances were considered to be impaired (2012: Nil).
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The credit quality of the loans and advances to banks and other customers that are neither 

past due nor impaired is detailed below:

2013 2013

US$'000 US$'000

Counterparties with international credit rating 

(S&P, Fitch, GCR)

Investment grade (AAA, AA+, AA, AA-, A+, 

A, A-, BBB+, BBB, BBB-) 464,039 373,115

Others (BB+, BB, BB-, B+, B, B-) 677,376  511,937

1,141,415 885,052

Counterparties without international credit ratings

Group 1 161,809 100,578

Group 2 365,625 367,542

527,434 468,120

Total unimpaired nor past due loans,

advances and debt securities 1,668,849 1,353,712

Group 1 – New customers/related parties (less than 6 months).

Group 2 – Existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the 

past.

Counterparties are subject to the Corporation's internal rating process as part of its credit 

approval and review process.

The Corporation holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit 

exposures. The table below sets out the principal types of collateral held against different 

types of financial assets.

Percentage of exposure that is subject to collateral requirements:

2013 2012 Principal type of

Type of credit exposure % % collateral held

Loans and advances to banks - - None

Loans and advances to other customers 81 80 charge on securities and

company assets

Loans designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 100 100 charge on company assets

Investment debt securities 17 - charge on company assets
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3.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

Geographical sectors

The following table analyses the Corporation's main credit exposures at their carrying 

amounts, categorised by geographical region, as at 31 December 2013.  The Corporation 

has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties.

West Africa Others Total

31 December 2013 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with

commercial banks 1,220 52,003 53,223

Loans and advances to banks 192,101 464,034 656,135

Loans and advances to other customers 343,297 175,414 518,711

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 44,905 94,589 139,494

Investment securities 452,525 63,609 516,134

Other assets (Note 19) 31,106 - 31,106

1,065,154 849,649 1,914,803

Committments 118,680 19,435 138,115

West Africa Others Total

31 December 2012 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with 

commercial banks 371 192,795 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 190,218 443,249 633,467

Loans and advances to other customers 285,988 179,222 465,210

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 40,363 50,322 90,685

Investment securities 229,860 70,625 300,485

Other assets (Note 19) 4,897 - 4,897

751,697 936,213 1,687,910

Committments 132,556 31,090 163,646

3.1.8 Credit Ratings

Credit ratings affect the cost and other terms, upon which the Corporation is able to obtain 

funding. These ratings assess the credit worthiness of the Corporation and are based on 

reviews of a broad range of business and financial attributes including risk management 

processes and procedures, capital adequacy, liquidity, governance and members support.
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The first international rating exercise of the Corporation was carried out by Moody's Investors 

Services in 2013. Similarly, regional rating agencies were also contracted mainly with the 

sole aim of providing a rating to enable the Corporation to access funding from Debt 

Capital Markets in some African countries, in line with its funding strategy. The Corporation 

plans to tap regional debt capital markets in countries such as Nigeria, Kenya, Ghana, 

Zambia, etc. 

Below is a summary of the Corporation's credit ratings:

3.2 Market Risk

AFC takes on exposures to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from 

open positions in interest rates, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general 

and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such 

as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. 

3.2.1 Market risk measurement techniques

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined 

below.

(a) Value at Risk

The Corporation applies value at risk (“VAR”)  methodology to quantify and control market 

risk of assets and liabilities designated at fair value. This methodology is applied to individual 

portfolios and on an enterprise wide basis.

VAR is a statistically based estimate of the maximum expected loss on the current portfolio 

from adverse market movements. This maximum expected loss is determined with a level of 

confidence (95%) and a holding period (1 day). This implies that realized losses may exceed 

the VAR estimate 5 days out of every 100 days. This assumption is monitored daily by 

comparing realized gains/losses against the VAR estimate. The variant of VAR used by the 

Corporation is Historical Simulation VAR. This variant has an implicit assumption that future 

market movements are similar to historical market movements.

International Credit Ratings Moody’s

Long Term A3 Stable

Short Term P2

 

Regional Credit Ratings GCR Agusto & Co

Long Term AA (ng) Aaa (NGN)

Aa (FCY)

Short Term A1+ (ng) NA
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As VAR constitutes an integral part of the Corporation's market risk control regime, VAR limits 

are established by the Board annually and allocated to business units. Actual exposure 

against limits, together with a Corporation-wide VAR, is reviewed daily. For the 2013 

financial year, the average daily FX VAR was US$51,315 (2012: US$81,837) and  average 

daily Interest Rate VAR was US$2,308,684 (2012: US$1,192,348). The quality of the VAR 

model is continuously monitored by back-testing the VAR estimates against actuals. All back-

testing exceptions (positive or negative) are investigated, and reported to ALCO monthly.

(b) Stress Test

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme 

conditions. The Corporation carries out stress tests for its core investment and treasury 

portfolios.

The Board Risk and Investment Committee agrees the range of scenarios to be tested and the 

independent risk management function co-ordinates the process, using bottom-up analysis 

performed by the businesses. The results of the stress tests are reviewed by the Executive 

Management and the Board Risk and Investment Committee.

3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk

The Corporation takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 

currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the 

level of exposure by currency, which are monitored. The table below summarizes the 

Corporation's exposure to foreign exchange rate risk at 31 December 2013. Included in the 

table are the Corporation's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by 

currency.

VAR summary for 2013 and 2012

12 months to 31 December 2013 12 months to 31 December 2012

Average High Low Average High Low

All numbers in US$'000

Foreign exchange risk 51 304 243  82  290 1

Interest rate risk 2,309 6,953 472 1,192 2,367 881

Total VAR 2,360 7,257 715 1,274 2,657 882
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Concentrations of currency risk – on-balance sheet financial instruments

31 December 2013 US Dollar Others Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with 

commercial banks 52,669 554 53,223

Loans and advances to banks 656,135 - 656,135

Loans and advances to other customers 518,711 - 518,711

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 137,181 2,313 139,494

Investment securities 483,970 32,164 516,134

Other assets 28,156 2,950 31,106

Total financial assets 1,876,822 37,981 1,914,803

Committments 118,680 19,435 138,115

Borrowings 618,478 13,482 631,960

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 10,338 265 10,603

Total financial liabilities 628,816 13,747 642,563

Net financial position 1,248,006 24,234 1,272,240

31 December 2012 Dollar Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with 

commercial banks 193,050 116 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 632,891 576 633,467

Loans and advances to other customers 465,210 - 465,210

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 88,372 2,313 90,685

Investment securities 265,682 34,803 300,485

Other assets 3,327 1,570 4,897

Total financial assets 1,648,532 39,378 1,687,910

Committments 132,556 31,090 163,646

Borrowings 266,285 - 266,285

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 193,438 542 193,980

Total financial liabilities 459,723 542 460,265

Net on balance sheet financial position 1,188,809 38,836 1,227,645
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Currency exposures emanating from AFC's investment portfolio are hedged in line with the 

Corporation's policy on hedging. As at 31 December 2013, the net open FX position was 

US$4,801,000 representing 0.4% of shareholders' funds as of that date. (2012: 

US$7,918,000;  0.6% of shareholders' funds)

3.2.3 Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate risk is the risk 

that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 

rates.  The Corporation takes on exposures to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing 

levels of market interest rates on both the fair value of its financial instruments and cash 

flows.  Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may produce losses in 

the event that adverse movements arise.  The Board sets applicable limits on the level of 

interest rate mismatch that may be undertaken.

The table below summarises the Corporation's exposure to interest rate risks.  It includes the 

Corporation's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of 

contractual repricing or maturity dates

As at 31 December 2013

Up to 3 Above 3 Interest
months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with 

Commercial banks - - 53,223 53,223

Loans and advances to banks 656,135 - - 656,135

Loans and advances to customers 463,644 55,067 - 518,711

Financial assets at fair value

 through profit or loss 77,835 - 61,659 139,494

Investment securities 45,300 370,868 99,966 516,134

Other assets - - 31,106 31,106

Total financial assets 1,242,914 425,935 245,954 1,914,803

Liabilities

Borrowings 567,317 64,643 - 631,960

Other liabilities - - 10,603 10,603

Total financial liabilities 567,317 64,643  10,603 642,563

Total interest repricing gap 675,597 361,292 235,351 1,272,240

Non-
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As at 31 December 2012

Up to 3 Above 3 Interest
months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with

Commercial banks 11,055 - 182,111 193,166

Loans and advances to banks 608,467 25,000 - 633,467

Loans and advances to customers 401,920 63,290 - 465,210

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 50,243 - 40,442 90,685

Investment securities 67,511 137,281 95,693 300,485

Other assets - - 4,897 4,897

Total financial assets 1,139,196 225,571 323,143 1,687,910

Liabilities

Borrowings 266,285 - - 266,285

Other liabilities - - 193,980 193,980

Total financial liabilities 266,285 -    193,980 460,265

Total interest repricing gap 872,911 225,571 129,163 1,227,645

3.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation is unable to meet its payment obligations associated 

with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The 

consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay lenders and fulfil commitments to 

lend.

The Corporation's liquidity management process includes:

- day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements 

can be met; 

- monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal requirements; and 

- managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 

The Corporation holds a diversified portfolio of cash and High-Quality Liquid Assets (“HQLA”) to 

support financial obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The 

Corporation's assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise:

- cash and balances with commercial banksloan and advances to banks ; and

- investment grade sovereign and corporate securities with a highly liquid secondary market.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of daily cash flow measurement and projections. The 

starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial 

liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets.

Non-

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 201382

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | THE ROAD TO ECONOMIC TRANSFORMATION



The Corporation has a Liquidity Policy and Contingency Funding Plan that defines extensively how 

liquidity risk would be managed within the Corporation. The policy requires that the Corporations 

keeps High Quality Liquid Assets (“HQLA”) to covers its Minimum Liquidity Level (“MLL”) at twelve 

and eighteen months under 'stress' and business as usual (“BAU”) conditions respectively. MLL, for 

the purpose of the Corporation, is defined as the level of liquidity that is available to meet the 

Corporation's financial obligations (repayment of borrowing, operating expenses and other non-

cancellable debt and equity commitments).  

Similar to the provisions of Basel III Capital Accord on Liquidity, the Corporation has defined its 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) as its stock of HQLA as a proportion of its MLL, as defined 

above. Under both stress and BAU conditions, the LCR is required to be greater than 100%.

 

As at 31 December 2013, the LCR was 289% (stress scenario) and 297% (BAU)  (2012: 201%  

and 277%  under stress and BAU scenarios respectively).

The table below analyses the Corporation's financial instruments into relevant maturity groupings 

based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual 

maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

3.4 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 

and systems, or from external events.  It includes the risk of failing to comply with applicable laws 

and regulations as well as reputation and franchise risks associated with the Corporation's 

business practice or market conduct.  Failure to manage and adequately control operational 

risks could result in significant financial losses.  Potentially, it could also result in damage to the 

Corporation's reputation which could undermine growth by reducing client base.

AFC's operational risk procedures comprise of: identification and assessment of key operational 

risks; establishment and monitoring of key risk indicators; and comprehensive reporting of 

operational risk to executive management and the Board of Directors.  The primary responsibility 

for managing operational risks, on a day-to-day basis, lies with the business and support 

As at 31 December 2013

All figures in USD'000 Carrying
amount  1 month  months months months 5 yrs

Total Financial Assets 1,914,803 560,046 336,795 50,542 8,958 38,361 471,164 448,937

Total Financial Liabilities 636,020 1 3,633 4 73,280 342,584 38,653 177,865

As at 31 December 2012

All figures in USD'000 Carrying Within 1 to 3 3 to 6 6 to 12 1 to 2yrs 2 to 5yrs Above
amount  1 month  months months months 5 yrs

Total Financial Assets 1,687,910 752,502 64,524 102,805 160,593 54,843 244,961 307,682

Total Financial Liabilities 461,123 182,082 454 50,493 41,259 68,950 21,000 96,885

Within 1 to 3 3 to 6 6 to 12 1 to 2yrs 2 to 5yrs Above
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functions.  Each business and support function has established processes and controls to address 

the operational risks inherent in their activities.

The Board Risk and Investment Committee has approved the Corporation's operational risk 

management framework, which is being implemented by the executive management, with the 

Risk Management Committee providing oversight.  The committee receives regular reporting of 

operational risk exposures and loss events and also reviews the results of the quarterly Risk and 

Control Self Assessments.  The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for the independence, objectivity 

and effectiveness of the Corporation's operational risk framework.  A database of operational risk 

events is maintained which indicates operational risk exposures.

3.5 Capital Management & Governance Structure

The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for policy formulation, strategy and decision 

making, with specific authority delegated to three subsidiary committees and Executive 

Management for day-to-day operations. Below represents the reporting structures of the various 

Board committees within the Corporation. 

In carrying out its oversight functions, EXCO through various committees manages the day to day 

operations of the Corporation. Below is a chart of the various sub committees of EXCO and their 

mandates.

Board of
Directors

Board Nominations
and Governance

Committee

Board Audit
and Compliance

Committee

Board Risk
and Investment

Committee

Nominations and Appointments
Governance Policy and Monitoring

Audit Review and Approval
Internal Compliance Monitoring

Risk Policy and Units
Investment Strategy and Approvals

Quarterly Quarterly Quarterly + As required

Delegated Role

Sitting Frequency

Board of
Directors

Investment
Committee

Asset & Liability
Committee (ALCO)

Risk Committee
(RISKCO)

Valuation Committee
(VALCO)

Procurement
 Committee(PC)

IT Steering
Committee

Sub-Investment
Committee

Executive Mangement
Committee (EXCO)

Critically appraises
potential investment

commitments

As required

Responsible for
liquidity management

and market risk

Monthly

Implementation of
the risk management

framework

Monthly

Review valuations of
equity and hybrid

investments

Quarterly

Manages the
procurement process.

Ensures value for money

As required

Provides strategic
direction on IT

architecture and
infrastructure

As required
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The Corporation's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the 'equity' 

on the face of the statement of financial position are:

- to comply with the capital requirements set by the Board of Directors of the Corporation;

- to safeguard the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 

to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

- to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy is monitored regularly by the Corporation's management, employing 

techniques derived from the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee.

The Corporation's Capital Adequacy Framework requires the business to maintain a ratio of total 

risk capital to the risk-weighted asset (the Basel ratio) at a minimum of 30%. To allow for a 

proactive management of any issue with its capital position, the Corporation has further defined 

an internal trigger at 40% that would necessitate the activation of a remedial action.  

The Corporation's capital is managed by the Finance and Treasury Division and currently 

comprises of Tier 1 (99%) and Tier 2 (1%) capital as shown below:

Tier 1: Comprises of share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations 

of retained earnings.

Tier 2: Comprises of unrealised gains arsing on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as 

available-for-sale.

The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weights classified 

according to the nature of (and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated 

with) each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A 

similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposures, with some adjustments to reflect the 

more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarises the composition of capital and the ratios of the Corporation for the 

year ended 31 December 2013. The Corporation has no externally imposed capital 

requirements, but complied with its own internal capital adequacy requirements described 

above, during the year under review.
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2013 2012
US$'000 US$'000

Tier 1 capital

Share capital 1,089,067 1,089,067

Retained earnings 178,577 139,909

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital 1,267,644 1,228,976

Tier 2 capital

Net fair valuation gain on available-for-sale assets 14,363 7,113

Total qualifying capital 1,282,007 1,236,089

Risk-weighted assets:

On-balance sheet 1,650,688 1,362,601

Off-balance sheet 49,581 59,078

Total risk-weighted assets 1,700,269 1,421,679

Basel ratio 75.4% 86.9%

3.6 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are 

based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the 

Corporation determines fair values using other valuation techniques. For financial instruments 

that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires 

varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market 

factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

(a) Valuation models

The Corporation measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

- Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

instruments.

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes 

instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; 

quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than 

active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly 

observable from market data.
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- Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the 

valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable 

inputs have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation. This category includes 

instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which 

significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 

between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison 

with similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial 

option pricing models and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation 

techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used 

in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and 

equity index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price 

that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. 

The Corporation uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of 

common and plain vanilla financial instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps that use 

only observable market data and require little management judgement and estimation. 

Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity 

securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives such as interest 

rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for 

management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with 

determining fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on 

the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general 

conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex financial instruments, the Corporation uses proprietary valuation models, 

which are usually developed from recognised valuation models. Some or all of the significant 

inputs into these models may not be observable in the market, and are derived from market prices 

or rates or are estimated based on assumptions. Examples of instruments involving significant 

unobservable inputs include unquoted equity securities for which there is no active market. 

Valuation models that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher degree of 

management judgement and estimation in the determination of fair value. Management 

judgement and estimation are usually required for selection of the appropriate valuation model 

to be used, determination of expected future cash flows on the financial instrument being valued, 

determination of the probability of counterparty default and prepayments and selection of 

appropriate discount rates. 

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, such as liquidity risk 

or model uncertainties, to the extent that the Corporation believes that a third party market 

participant would take them into account in pricing a transaction. Fair values reflect the credit risk 

of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the counterparty 

where appropriate.
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(b) Valuation framework

The Corporation has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair 

values. This framework includes a Product Control function, which is independent of front office 

management and reports to the Chief Financial Officer, and which has overall responsibility for 

independently verifying the results of investment operations and all fair value measurements.

Specific controls in the Corporation's valuation control framework include: 

- an established procedure for the verification of observable market prices;

- an established procedure for the independent re-performance and validation of model-

based valuations;

- a review and approval process for new models and changes to models analysis and 

investigation of significant daily valuation movements; and

- review of unobservable inputs, valuation adjustments and changes to the fair value 

measurement of Level 3 instruments compared with the previous period, by the valuation 

committee (a committee which includes the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Risk 

Officer).

Level 2 and 3 categories, fair valuation adjustments are approved by the Board of Directors 

through two of its subsidiary committees: Audit and Compliance Committee and Risk and 

Investment Committee. 

The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value as at 31 December 

2013, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised. 

The amounts are based on the values recognised in the statement of financial position.

31 December 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives assets (Option contract) - 1,010 -

Assets under management 16,675 - -

Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss - - 44,984

Equity securities at fair value through

Other Comprehensive income (OCI) - - 99,966

Hybrid instruments - 77,835 -

Total 16,675 78,845 144,950

Derivatives Liabilities:

-  Option contract - 1 -

-   Foreign exchange contract - 4 -

Total - 5 -
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31 December 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives (Option contract) - 296 -

Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss - - 40,442

Equity securities at fair value through

Other Comprehensive income (OCI) - - 95,693

Hybrid instruments - 50,243 -

Total - 50,539 136,135

Derivatives Liabilities:

 - Option contract - 858 -

Total - 858 -

There were no transfers between levels during the period under review.

Reconciliation of level 3 items

US$'000 US$'000

2013 2012

At beginning of year 136,135 90,574

Unrealised gains or losses

in OCI 7,250 7,113

in Profit or loss (1,576) 27,989

Purchases 3,323 10,917

Capital repayments (182) (458)

At end of year 144,950 136,135

For level 3 classifications, discounted cash flow valuation techniques have been applied in the 

valuation of the financial assets. The range of estimates for unobservable inputs (weighted 

average) is from 10% to 20%. Significant increases  in any of these inputs in isolation would result 

in lower fair values while significant reduction would result in higher fair value.

(c) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and 

analyses them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is 

categorised.
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31 December 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair Total

values carrying 

values 

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Loans and advances to bank 656,135 - - 656,135 656,135

Loans and advances 

to other customers - 520,367 - 520,367 518,711

Investment securities 221,807 - 193,593 415,400 416,168

Total 879,942 520,367 193,593 1,591,902 1,591,014

Liabilities

Borrowings - 631,960 - - 631,960

Total - 631,960 - - 631,960

Where available, the fair value of investment securities, loans and advances are based on 

observable market transactions. Where observable market transactions are not available, fair 

value is estimated using valuation models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. 

The fair value of borrowing from counterparty is estimated using discounted cash flow

techniques, applying the rates that are offered for deposits of similar maturities and terms. 

3.7 Financial instruments by category

31 December 2013

Assets as per statement of financial position

Fair value 
Loans & through Available- Held-to-

Receivables Profit or loss for-sale Maturity Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives - 1,010 - - 1,010

Investment securities 46,245 - 99,966 369,923 516,134

Loan and other receivables

excluding pre-payments 518,711 - - - 518,711

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss - 139,494 - - 139,494

Cash and cash equivalents 709,358 - - - 709,358

Net book amount 1,274,314 140,504 99,966 369,923 1,884,707
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31 December 2012

Assets as per statement of financial position

Fair value 
Loans & through Available- Held-to-

Receivables Profit or loss for-sale Maturity Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives - 296 - - 296

Investment securities 43,030 - 95,693 161,762 300,485

Loan and other receivables

excluding pre-payments 490,289 - - - 490,289

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss - 90,685 - - 90,685

Cash and cash equivalents 798,571 - - - 798,571

Net book amount 1,331,890 90,981 95,693 161,762 1,680,326

AFC's financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, 

estimates and management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of 

preparation of the financial statements. 

The Corporation makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 

based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Corporation reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on an ongoing basis.  In 

determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive 

income, the Corporation makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data 

indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio 

of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio.  This 

evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the 

payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate 

with defaults on assets of the Corporation.  Management uses estimates based on knowledge of 

the client business and agreed worked out solutions when scheduling its future cash flows.  The 

methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash 

flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 

experience.

(b) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Corporation determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there 

has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below cost.  The determination of 

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies
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what is significant or prolonged requires judgement.  In making this judgement, the Corporation 

evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share price.  In addition, impairment may 

be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial condition of the investee, 

its industry and sector performance, as well as, adverse changes in technology that negatively 

impact the operational and financing cash flows of the investee company.

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are 

not otherwise available are determined by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair 

values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments or using 

models. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based on 

appropriate assumptions. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to 

determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel 

independent of those that sourced them. All models are certified before they are used, and 

models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. 

To a practible extent, models use only observable data; however, areas such as credit risk (both 

own credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities and correlations require management to make 

estimates.

Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial 

instruments. 

The Corporation's primary objective is to finance infrastructure projects across Africa and to provide 

advisory, project development and other services related thereto. 

Operating units are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to executive 

management committee and Board of Directors. Segment information is provided on the basis of 

business units as the Corporation manages its affairs and business through these areas. The business 

units presented reflect the management structure of the Corporation and the way in which the 

Corporation's management reviews performance. The Corporation evaluates the performance of its 

operating segments primarily based on segment operating profit, as defined below:

1) Investment:

This service group offers financing, advisory and arranging services to infrastructure projects in 

Africa. AFC prioritises project financing, taking an active role across the financial value chain to 

originate, structure and syndicate the financing of major projects.  Financial products offered by 

AFC include senior debt, equity and hybrid investment products such as quasi equity or 

subordinate debt. The business unit is organised and reports along the following lines: (a) Project 

Finance, (b) Equity and (c) Structured Trade Finance & Advisory. Equity investments are managed 

with a view to profiting from the receipt of dividends and changes in the fair value of such 

investments. The Corporation's equity business strategy is built around; (i) using our local and 

industry knowledge and investment structuring capabilities to select attractively priced assets to 

invest in, (ii) building these businesses as well as optimising their operations in partnership with 

5. Business Units
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top class management team and (iii) maximising value through timely and well executed exit 

strategies.

2) Origination and Coverage

The division has responsibility for customer relationship management, deal origination, 

development and structuring of projects by bringing skill-sets and parties together as well as 

developing projects from the idea phase to a bankable phase, drawing on sector and 

performance capabilities.  The division also provides technical and economic advisory services to 

requisite industry segments in early stage project development, techno-economic analysis, 

feasibility studies and detailed engineering, environmental assessments. 

The Project Development unit of this division is the flagship differentiating platform which 

underpins AFC's strategy to play a leading role in addressing the continent's  infrastructure deficit.  

It identifies and develops 'bankable' infrastructure projects from inception to financial close and in 

return earns developer management fees and provides a captive pipeline of viable projects in 

which AFC can invest.

3) Finance and Treasury

Treasury is responsible for capital raising for the Corporation covering both debt and equity, 

ensuring that the Corporation has adequate capital and the desired capital structure at all times . 

In this role, the division interfaces with the Corporation's shareholders, bankers, potential lenders, 

rating agencies and other providers of capital. The division is also responsible for the 

management of the liquidity of the Corporation, ensuring that all liquidity risk management 

indices are met and that the Corporation is liquid at all times to meet its contractual obligations 

under normal and stressed environments. It is also responsible for designing and executing 

hedges to manage the Corporation's exposures to market risk. 

The segment information provided to the Corporation's Board for the reportable segments for the year 

ended 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Investment Treasury Total

& Origination

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Interest income 45,767 28,528 74,295

Fee and commission income 19,350 1,242 20,592

Net gain on financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss 29,060 22 29,082

Interest & administrative expenses (36,172) (7,744) (43,916)

Operating profit 58,005 22,048 80,053

Total Assets 886,902 1,037,673 1,924,575

Total Liabilities 6,623 3,980 10,603

ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 201393

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING | THE ROAD TO ECONOMIC TRANSFORMATION



6. Interest income

7. Dividend income

8. Fee and commission income

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

From

- Non-bank customers 40,364 33,833

- Money Market activities 12,464 17,189

- Fixed income securities 21,467 14,738

74,295 65,760

Total interest income calculated using the effective interest method reported above that relate to 

financial assets or financial liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss are US$70.4 million 

(2012: US$64.6 million).

Interest expense 2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Borrowings

- From banks 12,696 2,675

- Others - -

  12,696 2,675

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Available-for-sale securities - 366

- 366

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Risk participation and commitment fees 4,715      5,589

Advisory and structuring fees 5,235 4,745

Arrangement, facility and other fees 10,642 2,680

20,592 13,014
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9. Net gain on financial instruments

10. Operating expenses

11. Taxation

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

At fair value through profit or loss

Equity investments 2,761 27,989

Hybrid instruments 26,299 -

Asset under management 22 -

29,082 27,989

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Staff cost:

Wages and salaries 22,824 20,388

Other operating expenses:

- Rent, rates and utilities 1,196 1,086

- Insurance 75 70

- Advertising and business promotion 864 618

- Auditor's remuneration 193 175

- Communication 666 954

- Travel 1,019 935

- Board expenses including directors fees 542 449

- Training, seminars and conferences 768 593

- Repairs and maintenance 71 56

- Project and  other transaction fees 266 640

- Consultancy fees 934 675

- Other expenses 651 516

- Depreciation and software amortisation (Notes 20 & 21) 1,151 1,180

31,220 28,335

Under the Headquarters Agreement between AFC and the Government of the Federal Republic of 

Nigeria signed in May 2007, AFC is exempt from tax on all its income arising from operations in 

Nigeria. This is provided for in the Diplomatic Immunities and Privileges Order, published in  the 

Federal Republic of Nigeria's Official Gazette No. 23 dated 15 February 2010 vol 97 section 1 (4).
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12. Earnings per share

13. Cash and balances commercial banks

14. Loans and advances to banks

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the 

Corporation by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2013 2012

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Corporation (US$' 000) 80,053 76,119

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (' 000) 1,089,067 1,089,073

Basic earnings per share (expressed in US cents per share) 7.35 6.99

Diluted

The dilutive earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  (There were no potential dilutive 

ordinary shares during the year).

2013 2012

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (' 000) 1,089,067 1,089,073

Diluted earnings per share (expressed in US cents per share) 7.35 6.99

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand    23 29

Balances with commercial banks   53,200 193,137

 53,223 193,166

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Placements with banks 653,119 605,405

Advances under import finance - 25,000

Interest receivable 3,016 3,062

656,135 633,467

All loans and advances to banks are current.
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15. Derivative financial instruments

16. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities 

together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a 

derivative's underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value 

of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at 

the year end and are indicative of neither the market risk nor the credit risk.

Assets Liabilities Notionals
2013 2013 2013

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives 

Options 1,010 1 18,989

Forward exchange contracts - 4 273

1,010 5 19,262

Assets Liabilities Notionals
2012 2012 2012

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivatives 

Options 296 858 18,647

296 858 18,647

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Designated at initial recognition

- Hybrid instruments (convertible debt) (a) 77,835 50,243

- Equity securities (b) 44,984 40,442

Assets under management (c) 16,675 -

139,494 90,685

(a) The option component of the convertible debt is equity indexed, which results in no closely related 

risks inherent in the host contract. The Corporation therefore designated the hybrid contract as 

financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. Valuation was carried out using a binomial 

distribution methodology. 
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(b) The Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss include:

2013 2012 Percentage

US$'000 US$'000 shareholding

MainOne Cable Company (i) 38,985 36,223 23%

Cenpower Generation Company (ii) 5,921 4,141 46%

Cabeolica S.A. (iii) 78 78 42%

44,984 40,442

(i) MainOne Cable Company: is a telecommunications company and a leading provider of 

innovative telecom services and network solutions for businesses in West Africa. Total direct 

and indirect holding in MainOne stood at 23% as at 31 December 2013. The summarized 

un-audited financial information for MainOne is presented below:

Oct 2013

US$'000

Current assets 34,700

Non-current assets 219,500

Current liabilities 36,700

Non-current liabilities 46,310

Revenue 43,048

Loss after tax (2,342)

Total comprehensive loss (2,177)

(ii) Cenpower Generation Company: a power generating company in Ghana.  

(iii) Cabeolica S.A: a wind power company based in Cape Verde supplying about 20% of 

installed electricity capacity of the country. 

The Corporation acquired stakes in these companies with the intention to exit at a future date. The 

Corporation does not have any commitments to these entities outside the existing investments.

(c) Assets under management represent funds that are managed by a third party investment 

company on a discretionary basis. The market prices of these investments are observable.

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Project finance loans 289,518 157,212

Advances under trade finance 224,662 305,838

Interest and Fees receivable 4,531 2,160

518,711 465,210

17. Loans and advances to other customers
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18. Investment securities

19. Other assets

US$'000 US$'000

Debt securities at amortised cost:

- Corporate securities 276,914 141,454

- Sovereign securities 93,009 20,308

- Other debt securities 46,245 43,030

Available for sale equity securities (unlisted) 99,966 95,693

516,134 300,485

(a) Included in investment securities are Corporate and Sovereign securities of US$76,025,000 (31 

December 2012: US$59,000,000) on repurchase agreements to secure short and medium term 

borrowings of US$59,734,096 (31 December 2012: US$48,860,604) from other financial 

institutions which have been included in borrowings in Note 23. These transactions have been 

conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending and repurchase 

activities. As at 31 December 2013, the fair value of the investment securities pledged was 

US$77,707,178 (31 December 2012: US$65,898,264).

As at 31 December 2013, the Corporation held no collateral, which it was permitted to sell or 

repledge in the absence of default by the owner of the collateral (31 December 2012: nil).

The movement in investment securities from the preceding financial year is as follows:

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 300,485 295,756

Additions 277,575 83,989

Net gain on fair valuation through other comprehensive income 7,250 7,113

Capital repayments (69,176) (86,373)

At end of the year     516,134 300,485

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Accounts receivable 3,106 4,632

Prepayments 5,347 6,096

Advance for investments (see notes below) 28,000 -

36,453 10,728

Current 31,106 4,897

Non-current 5,347 5,831

Other assets are neither past due nor impaired.

2013 2012
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The Corporation made payments totalling US$28 million during the year as part of its investment 

contribution in one of the companies that won the power distribution bid of the Bureau of Public 

Enterprises (BPE) in the Federal Republic of Nigeria. The agreement regarding the structure of the 

Corporation investments was yet to be finalised as at the signing of this report.

Motor Leasehold Furniture 

Vehicles improvement equipment Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 31 December 2012

Cost 2,345 1,570 2,720 6,635

Accumulated depreciation (798) (1,564) (2,118) (4,480)

Net book amount 1,547 6 602 2,155

Year ended December 2013

Opening net book value 1,547 6 602 2,155

Additions 505 11 375 891

Disposal – cost (319) - (176) (495)

Disposals – accumulated depreciation 267 - 168 435

Depreciation charge (555) (3) (295) (853)

Closing net book amount 1,445 14 674 2,133

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Project development costs - 238

Software cost 1,282 782

1,282 1,020

Project development costs relate to ongoing projects. Software costs are costs incurred on the 

purchase and implementation of the Corporation's software.

20. Property and equipment

21. Intangible assets

&
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The movement in intangible assets from the preceding financial year is as follows:

Project Software Total
Costs Costs Costs

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2012 238 329 567

Additions - 752 752

Amortisation - (299) (299)

At 31 December 2012 238 782 1,020

Project Software Total
Costs Costs Costs

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2013 238 782 1,020

Additions - 798 798

Amortisation/write offs (238) (298) (536)

At 31 December 2013 - 1,282 1,282

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Unearned commission 770 2,637

Accruals 9,333 8,521

Pension liabilities 12 91

Balances held under facility agency arrangement - 182,082

Other liabilities 488 649

10,603 193,980

All liabilities above are current.

Balances held under facility agency arrangement represents amount received by the Corporation in its 

capacity as Facility Agent from participating banks in a project finance transaction. The amount was 

remitted to the borrower subsequent to year-end.

22. Accrued expenses and other liabilities
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23. Borrowings

24. Contingent liabilities and commitments

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Short term borrowings (less than 1 year) 69,225 78,996

Medium term borrowings (within 1 and 3 years) 351,496 68,950

Long term borrowings (Over 3 years) 207,606 117,885

Interest payable 3,633 454

631,960 266,285

The Corporation has not had any defaults of principal, interest and other covenant breaches with 

respect to its borrowings.

As part of its Prudential Financial Guidelines, the Board of Directors has capped the Corporation's 

leverage ratio.

A) Legal proceedings

As at 31 December 2013, there were no legal proceedings against the Corporation.

B) Equity commitments

These commitments as at 31 December 2013 relate to equity financing commitments to third 

parties.

C) Foreign exchange commitments

Foreign currency commitments as at 31 December 2013 relate to swap and option transaction 

with a counterparty.

D) Debt commitments

Other commitments as at 31 December 2013 relate to trade finance and debt commitments on 

transactions.

Committments details as at 31 December 2013 are as follows:

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Equity commitments 7,489 8,304

Debt commitments 111,364 124,424

Foreign currency commitments 19,262 30,918

138,115 163,646
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25. Special purpose companies

26. Share capital

27. Retained earnings

28. Fair value reserves

The Corporation set up a new Special Purpose Vehicle (AFC Equity Investments Limited) in Mauritius 

during the year under review. The SPV was set up mainly to hold certain equity investments. No 

investments are held by the SPV as of the balance sheet date.

No. of shares Ordinary shares

In thousands US$'000

At 1 January 2012 1,089,117 1,089,117

Repurchased and cancelled during the year (50) (50)

At 31 December 2012 1,089,067 1,089,067

At 1 January 2013 1,089,067 1,089,067

At 31 December 2013 1,089,067 1,089,067

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 billion with a par value of US$1.00 per share. 

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 139,909 78,790

Dividend declared and paid during the year (41,385) (15,000)

Retained earnings for the year 80,053 76,119

At end of the year 178,577 139,909

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 7,113 -

Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 7,250 7,113

At end of the year 14,363 7,113
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29. Dividends

30. Cash and cash equivalents

31. Related-party transactions

Dividends are not accounted for until they have been ratified at the Annual General Meeting.

 

The Board of Directors is proposing a dividend of 4 US cents per share, amounting to approximately 

US$43,562,680. The resolution on payment of dividend will be tabled before the annual general 

meeting scheduled for 16 June 2014 and if approved, the dividend will be paid to all qualifying 

shareholders who are on the register of members as of that date.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following 

balances with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition.

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand and balances with commercial banks (Note 13) 53,223 193,166

Placements with other banks (Note 14) 653,119 605,405

At end of the year 706,342 798,571

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 

influence over the other party in making financial and operational decisions, or one other party 

controls both. The definition includes subsidiaries, associates, significant shareholders and their 

companies as well as key management personnel. 

A number of transactions were entered into during the year with related parties in the normal course of 

business. These transactions were with banks that are shareholders of the Corporation and an 

institutional shareholder and are at arm's length. The outstanding related party transactions at year 

end and the related income for the year are as follows:

a) Loans and advances to related parties

Banks and other shareholders

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Loans outstanding as at end of year 228,300 286,572

Interest income earned    13,996 15,838

24% of the loans made to related parties are secured. The balance represents short term placements 

with related parties for which no collateral is required under the standard terms of these transactions. 

No provisions have been recognised in respect of any related party credit facility.
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b) Key management compensation

2013 2012

US$'000 US$'000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 4,205 3,505

Post employment benefits 422 422

Key management staff refers to members of the Executive Management Committee, which are: (a) 

President and Chief Executive Officer, (b) Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer, 

(c) Executive Director, Corporate Services and General Counsel, (d) Director and Chief Coverage 

Officer, (e) Director and Chief Financial Officer, and (f) Chief Risk Officer.

There were no events after the statement of financial position date which materially affect these 

financial statements.

32. Events after the statement of financial position date
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T: +234 1 279 9600
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